University of Massachusetts Boston ScholarWorks at UMass Boston

Graduate Masters Theses

Doctoral Dissertations and Masters Theses

8-2024

Gray Seal (Halichoerus Grypus) Diet and Microplastic Ingestion on Great Point, Nantucket

Shannon R. Brown

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.umb.edu/masters_theses

Part of the Environmental Sciences Commons

GRAY SEAL (HALICHOERUS GRYPUS) DIET AND MICROPLASTIC INGESTION ON GREAT POINT, NANTUCKET

A Thesis Presented

by

SHANNON R. BROWN

Submitted to the Office of Graduate Studies University of Massachusetts Boston in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

August 2024

Marine Science and Technology Program

© 2024 by Shannon R. Brown All rights reserved

GRAY SEAL (*HALICHOERUS GRYPUS*) DIET AND MICROPLASTIC INGESTION ON GREAT POINT, NANTUCKET

A Thesis Presented by SHANNON R. BROWN

Approved as to style and content by:

Juanita Urban-Rich, Associate Professor Co-Chairperson of Committee

Stephanie Wood, Research Assistant Professor Co-Chairperson of Committee

Amanda Tokash-Peters, Molecular Biology Scientist WuXi Advanced Therapies Member

> Georgia Mavrommati, Graduate Program Director Marine Science and Technology Program

Robert Chen, Interim Dean School for the Environment

ABSTRACT

GRAY SEAL (HALICHOERUS GRYPUS) DIET AND MICROPLASTIC INGESTION ON GREAT POINT, NANTUCKET

August 2024

Shannon R. Brown, B.S., University of Maine M.S., University of Massachusetts Boston

Directed by Associate Professor Juanita Urban-Rich and Research Assistant Professor Stephanie Wood

Due to their semi-aquatic lifestyle, pinnipeds are an ideal sentinel group used to study anthropogenic threats to the marine environment. Microplastics, primarily transported to the ocean through river discharge or weathering of larger plastics, are a threat to both pinnipeds and humans. Bioaccumulation of microplastics within the marine food web has been observed, with pinnipeds indirectly ingesting microplastics through their prey. As generalists, gray seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) are a pinniped species that can provide information on microplastic exposure to many lower trophic level organisms. This thesis explores the relationship between the diet and microplastic ingestion of gray seals on Great Point, Nantucket. Firstly, gray seal diet was assessed using two methods, prey hard parts and DNA metabarcoding, from 112 scat samples. Our results support previous findings that DNA metabarcoding reduces the biases of prey hard parts, identifying more prey types in more samples. We then compared the DNA metabarcoding diet results to microplastic concentration, type, fiber color, and polymer type. Anthropogenic microparticles were found in 111 out of 112 gray seal scat samples. Our findings suggested weak relationships between the microplastic variables and diet, however our methods were not able to determine the abundance of each prey type, making it difficult to draw any real conclusions. More research using quantitative methods is needed to determine whether gray seals' diet is influencing their microplastic consumption. Given their role as a sentinel species, gray seals, along with other pinnipeds, offer valuable insights into the distribution and impact of microplastics throughout their range. Future research should continue to utilize pinnipeds as indicators to further investigate microplastic pollution in marine ecosystems.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would not have been able to complete this work without the help of many people.

First, thank you to my co-advisors Juanita Urban-Rich and Stephanie Wood for your guidance and support throughout my time at UMass Boston. I'm grateful for all of the knowledge you passed on to me, and for helping me to grow professionally and personally.

Thank you to all of my lab mates and other graduate and undergraduate students in SFE who helped with lab work, gave feedback on my presentations, and became a friend along the way. I wish you all the best of luck in whatever path you take.

Thank you to Amanda Tokash-Peters, Pat Kearns, Doug Woodhams, and everyone else in the Woodhams lab for working through the DNA metabarcoding portion of my thesis with me. I truly appreciate all of the time, effort, and resources you provided for my research.

Thank you to Christina McCosker for helping me work through the bioinformatics as well. And thank you to Kristina Cammen for being an amazing first mentor and for continuing to support me throughout my journey.

I'd also like to acknowledge Yvonne Vaillancourt, the Nantucket Field Station, and everyone who collected scat samples using the NMFS permit #21719 from the Northeast Fisheries Science Center Seal Research Program.

Finally, thank you to my friends and family who supported me these past three years and helped me to have fun and enjoy life outside of school.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
CHAPTER	Page
1. PINNIPEDS AS A LINK BETWEEN THE LAND AND THE	1
	1
	1
1.2 Infroduction	2
1.3 Infectious disease	5
1.3.1 Influenza A	6
1.3.2 Phoeine Distemper Virus (PDV)	/
1.4 Climate change.	9
1.4.1 Coastal erosion	9
1.4.2 Sea ice	11
1.4.3 Prey shifts	13
1.5 Toxicology	15
1.5.1 Trace elements	16
1.5.2 Persistent organic pollutants (POPs)	18
1.6 Plastic	21
1.6.1 Macroplastic	21
1.6.2 Microplastic	22
1.7 Summary	23
Tables	25
Figures	26
2. UTILIZING PREY HARD PARTS AND DNA METABARCODING	
TECHNIQUES TO ASSESS GRAY SEAL (HALICHOERUS GRYPUS)	
DIET	27
2.1 Abstract	27
2.2 Introduction	28
2.3 Methods	31
2.3.1 Scat Collection	31
2.3.2 Hard Parts Identification	31
2.3.3 DNA Metabarcoding	32
2.3.4 Bioinformatics and Data Analysis	33
2.4 Results	35
2.4.1 Prev Hard Parts	35
2.4.2 DNA Metabarcoding	35
2.4.3 Comparing methods	36
2.5 Discussion	36
2.5.1 Prey Hard Parts vs DNA Metabarcoding	36

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

2.5.2 Comparisons to past grav seal diet studies	38
2.5.2 Comparisons to past gray sear after staates 2.5.3 Trends in diet	40
2.5.5 Trends in det	41
2.5.5 Conclusions	42
Tables	44
Figures	54
3. GRAY SEAL (HALICHOERUS GRYPUS) MICROPLASTIC	
INGESTION AND DIET	61
3.1 Abstract	61
3.2 Introduction	62
3.3 Methods	65
3.3.1 Scat Collection	65
3.3.2 Microplastic Isolation	65
3.3.3 Diet	67
3.3.4 Data Analysis	69
3.4 Results	70
3.4.1 Microplastics	70
3.4.2 Microplastics and Diet	72
3.5 Discussion	73
3.5.1 Microplastics in gray seals	73
3.5.2 Sources of marine microplastics	75
3.5.3 Microplastics and grav seal diet	76
3.5.4 Microplastics in New England	78
3.5.5 Conclusions	79
Tables	81
Figures	88
1 150105	00
REFERENCE LIST	103

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1.1 Pinniped exposure to Phocine Distemper Virus (PDV) and Avian Influenza	25
2.1 Gray seal scat sample size by collection date, collected from Great Point, Nantucket	44
2.2 PCR conditions for the amplification of the 16S mtDNA gene using primer set B from Deagle et al (2009) and a gray seal blocking primer from Flanders et al (2020)	44
2.3 PCR conditions for the attachment of Nextera XT i7 and i5 adapters	44
2.4 Taxonomic classification of prey types found in 112 gray seal scat samples, and which method they were identified from	45
2.5 Sample name, year collected, season collected, and which method prey was identified from for 112 scat samples	48
2.6 Frequency of occurrence (% FO) of prey from gray seal scat samples (n = 112)	51
2.7 Important prey in previous and the current gray seal diet studies	53
3.1 Gray seal scat sample size and average (Avg), standard deviation (sd), and range of scat weights (grams), microparticle (MP) abundance, and microparticle concentrations (MP Abundance/scat weight) by sample date, collected from Great Point, Nantucket.	81
3.2 PCR conditions for the amplification of the 16S mtDNA gene using primer set B from Deagle et al (2009) and a gray seal blocking primer from Flanders et al (2020)	82
3.3 PCR conditions for the attachment of Nextera XT i7 and i5 adapters	82
3.4 Microparticle type % composition by sampling date	82
3.5 FTIR % composition by sampling date	83
3.6 Diet and percent frequency occurrence (%FO) of prey families identified in 112 seal scat samples from DNA metabarcoding	84

Table	Page
3.7 Prey families with significantly different microparticle fiber (MFP) color composition and the MFP colors that strongly contributed to these differences from a SIMPER analysis	85
3.8 Top 10 prey families with the highest % frequency of occurrence (FO) by sample date	86

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1.1 Distribution of harp, harbor, and gray seals in the Arctic Ocean (NOAA Fisheries, 2022a, 2022b, 2022c)	26
2.1 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and seasons (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts	54
2.2 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and years (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts	55
2.3 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and sampling dates (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using DNA Metabarcoding	56
2.4 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and seasons (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using DNA Metabarcoding	57
2.5 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and years (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using DNA Metabarcoding	58
2.6 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and sampling dates (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts	59
2.7 Boxplot of prey richness using DNA metabarcoding (DNA) and prey hard parts (HP) $(n = 112)$	60
3.1 Scat weight by sample date	88
3.2 Microparticle abundance by sample date	89
3.3 Total microparticle concentration by sample date	90
3.4 Distribution of microparticle types in scat samples by abundance $(n = 112)$	91
3.5a Percent composition of microparticle types by sample date	92
3.5b Percent frequency of occurrence (FO) of microparticle types by sample date	92
3.6 Percent composition of microparticles in scat samples determined by FTIR spectroscopy ($n = 99$)	93
3.7 Percent composition of synthetic polymers in scat samples determined by FTIR spectroscopy $(n = 99)$	94

Figure	Page
3.8 Percent composition of synthetic polymers by sample date	95
3.9 Distribution of microparticle fiber colors in scat samples by abundance (n = 112)	96
3.10 Boxplot of total microparticle concentration for samples with (1) and without (0) Liparidae DNA ($n = 112$)	97
3.11 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of microparticle types (blue) and prey types (red) of 100 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts	98
3.12 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of microparticle fiber colors (blue) and prey types (red) of 100 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts	99
3.13 Pleuronectiformes abundance in minimum number of individuals (MNI) by total microparticle concentration (MP/g)	100
3.14 Gadiformes abundance in minimum number of individuals (MNI) by total microparticle concentration (MP/g)	101
3.15 Perciformes abundance in minimum number of individuals (MNI) by total microparticle concentration (MP/g)	102

CHAPTER 1

PINNIPEDS AS A LINK BETWEEN THE LAND AND THE OCEAN

1.1 Abstract

In the present day, where human activities are threatening coastal regions, the necessity of studying their impacts on the marine environment is pertinent. Pinnipeds are an ideal sentinel group for investigating this relationship due to their semi-aquatic lifestyle. Being high trophic level organisms, they are also particularly vulnerable to anthropogenic pollution. Their exposure to chemical and physical pollution highlights the pathway of the pollutants from the terrestrial to marine ecosystems. Climate change causes additional challenges, impacting pinniped habitats, prey availability, and disease dynamics. As sea surface temperatures rise, the distribution of pinniped prey is shifting, affecting food availability and quality. Concurrently, the frequency and intensity of severe weather events erodes coastlines, reducing haul-out spaces for pinnipeds and increasing human-wildlife interactions. Increases in sea surface temperature and decreases in pinniped haul-out space are positively linked to the spread of infectious diseases. Pinnipeds and humans are also experiencing competition for resources such as land and economically important prey species. This chapter adopts a "one health" perspective, recognizing the interconnectedness between human, animal, and ecosystem health. Through pinnipeds, changes in both

terrestrial and marine ecosystems, and threats to overall ecosystem health, can be monitored. Understanding these interactions is crucial for effective conservation and management strategies in the face of ongoing environmental changes.

1.2 Introduction

Pinnipeds (*e.g.* seals, sea lions, and walruses) live both on land and in the ocean (Berta et al., 2015). Some species, like harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*), will often haul-out on land just to rest (NOAA Fisheries, 2022a). Others, like elephant seals (*Mirounga sp.*), spend much of their time in the water and primarily haul-out during specific life history events (Berta et al., 2015). All pinnipeds use land or ice to rest, breed, pup, and molt, and they forage in the ocean (Berta et al., 2015). This semi-aquatic lifestyle makes pinnipeds an ideal sentinel for monitoring ecosystem and human well-being and resiliency.

Forty percent of the global human population lives within 100 km of the coast (Division for Sustainable Development, 2007). Highly populated coastal regions provide significant economic value due to tourism and their accessibility for transportation and trade (Borja et al., 2020). These areas are also threatened by climate change, storms, and other natural disasters (Borja et al., 2020). They are dynamic regions, impacted by natural and human-derived processes, and activities originating both from the ocean and the land. Thus, species that move between these two realms play an increasingly important role in linking stressors and providing warning for threats between terrestrial and marine systems. In this age of climate change and global human activity, these regions are at increased risk to sealevel rise, habitat loss, pollution, and disease outbreaks. (Berta et al., 2015; Borja et al., 2020; Calvin et al., 2023; Nehasil, 2010).

Along with the exponential growth of the human population comes increases in pollution. Pinnipeds are often exposed to anthropogenic chemical and physical pollution in the marine environment that originates on land. Trace elements, persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and plastic can all enter the ocean through river and wastewater discharge (Walker et al., 2012). As high trophic level organisms, pinnipeds are at risk of significant exposure to these contaminants through bioaccumulation and biomagnification within the marine food web (Berta et al., 2015). They can also become entangled in larger marine debris, like fishing ropes, nets, and line (Henderson, 2001; Raum-Suryan et al., 2009).

Human activity has also increased the amount of greenhouse gasses in the atmosphere, resulting in a 1.07°C increase in global surface temperature from 1850-1900 to 2010-2019 (Calvin et al., 2023). As the mean sea surface temperature (SST) rises, the distribution and abundance of pinniped prey is predicted to shift, causing a decrease in food availability (Baker et al., 2020; McHuron et al., 2023). Furthermore, this increase in SST is positively correlated with the number of infectious disease outbreaks (Calvin et al., 2023; Sanderson & Alexander, 2020). Another effect of climate change is the increasing frequency and intensity of severe weather events, which can erode beaches and coastlines, shrinking pinniped habitat (Nehasil, 2010; Theuerkauf et al., 2014).

As climate change and pollution continue to threaten the earth, pinnipeds and humans will experience similar challenges and may have to compete for resources. Pinnipeds often consume prey from commercially valuable fisheries, such as Atlantic cod and salmon (Ampela, 2009; Weise & Harvey, 2008). Many chemical and physical pollutants are transported up the food web resulting in negative health effects to higher trophic level organisms, like pinnipeds and humans (Andrady, 2011; Berta et al., 2015; Frouin et al., 2010;

Kakuschke et al., 2005, 2011; Mos et al., 2006; Nelms, Barnett, et al., 2019; Rotjan et al., 2019; Soulen et al., 2022; Walker et al., 2012). Both groups may also experience a decrease in food quality and availability as prey abundance and distribution changes. Fisheries are economically and culturally important, with 37.9 million people employed in the global fisheries primary sector (FAO, 2022). Range shifts, primary productivity changes, and divergence in the timing of important biological events due to climate change are expected to decrease global fishing revenue by 35% by the 2050s under high CO₂ emission scenarios (Lam et al., 2016). These changes in fish distribution and biology will also negatively affect the feeding ecology of pinnipeds (Baker et al., 2020; Florko et al., 2021; Kauhala et al., 2017; McHuron et al., 2023). Competition between humans and pinnipeds may arise as fisheries significant to both groups experience these shifts.

Another resource that is important to both pinnipeds and humans is land. Coastal erosion and sea level rise will result in less space for pinnipeds to haul-out, and governments will have to decide whether to designate these haul-out areas for pinniped or human use (Nehasil, 2010). Smaller coasts could also increase human interaction with these animals. Pinnipeds carry zoonotic diseases (e.g. avian influenza), which can be transmitted to humans (Hunt et al., 2008). As the earth continues to warm, not only will infectious disease outbreaks occur more frequently, but transmission of zoonotic diseases may increase due to more frequent contact (Hendrik et al., 2023).

This review will focus on the interactions between terrestrial and marine ecosystems through the study of pinnipeds. Since the first industrial revolution, the relationship between the land and the ocean has become more stressed (NOAA Education, 2020). Additionally, the "one health" perspective intertwines the well-being of humans, animals, and the ecosystem

(Wilcox & Aguirre, 2004). Pinnipeds are an exemplary group for studying this relationship since they serve as link between the land and the ocean. By studying pinnipeds, we can detect changes in both ecosystems, observe resiliency, and monitor threats to the health of humans, animals, and the ecosystem.

1.3 Infectious disease

Human health and the oceans have been linked for centuries and will continue to be in the future (Borja et al., 2020; Wheeler et al., 2014). Humans have visited and used the ocean as a form of medicine for centuries (Wheeler et al., 2014). "Sea bathing" was popularized in Europe in the 1800s, with the belief that sea water has healing properties (Wheeler et al., 2014). In the present day, increased dumping of chemical and physical waste is negatively impacting the health of both humans and the ocean (Borja et al., 2020). Additionally, increased anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions are causing the ocean to warm, which has been linked to the spread of infectious diseases (Calvin et al., 2023; Sanderson & Alexander, 2020). Marine mammals are known for being sentinels for ocean and human health because they are susceptible to many of the same threats that humans face, including infectious disease (Simeone et al., 2015).

Infectious diseases are illnesses caused by bacteria, viruses, and fungi (NCEZID, 2023). Two infectious diseases, avian influenza and phocine distemper virus (PDV), have caused unusual mortality events (UMEs) in pinnipeds in the northwest and northeast Atlantic (Table 1.1) (Anthony et al., 2012; Bodewes et al., 2013; Puryear et al., 2021, 2023; Puryear et al., 2016; van den Brand et al., 2016). PDV has also spread to Pacific pinniped populations, however it has not caused any UMEs in the area as of yet (Duignan et al., 1997).

A UME is "a stranding event that is unexpected, involves a significant die-off of any marine mammal population, and demands immediate response" as defined by the Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) (Marine Mammal Protection Act of 1972, 2022). While the term UME is only used for marine mammals strandings in the United States, there have been significant avian influenza and PDV outbreaks in Europe as well (Bodewes et al., 2013; Bodewes, Rubio García, et al., 2015).

1.3.1 Influenza A

Avian influenza is a zoonotic disease, meaning that it can spread between animals and humans (NCEZID, 2021). The transmission of a disease from one species to another is called a zoonotic spillover (Ellwanger & Chies, 2021). Multiple avian influenza A virus strains have spilled over into harbor and gray seal populations from wild birds. In the northwest Atlantic, H3N8 and H5N1 caused UMEs in harbor seals in 2011 (n = 162) and 2022 (n = 164), respectively (Anthony et al., 2012; Puryear et al., 2023). Both strains were found to have amino acids changes that allowed them to infect mammals (Anthony et al., 2012; Puryear et al., 2023). A 2014 outbreak of H10N7 also fatally infected thousands of harbor seals in Sweden (n = 425), Denmark (n = 152), and Germany (n = 1400) (Bodewes, Bestebroer, et al., 2015; Krog et al., 2015; van den Brand et al., 2016; Zohari et al., 2014).

While harbor seals have experienced the more significant impact of these spillovers, gray seals have been found with antibodies for many influenza A strains. In the Netherlands, 26% of adult gray seals had antibodies from the H10N7 outbreak (Bodewes, Rubio García, et al., 2015). Fifty percent of (sub)adult and 19.3% of weanling gray seals sampled from 2013 to 2015 in Cape Cod, MA and Nova Scotia, Canada had antibodies from a combination of strains (Puryear et al., 2016). Gray seals are thought to be a reservoir for influenza A since

they can carry the virus but may not display symptoms during infection (Puryear et al., 2016).

Van de Brand et al. (2016) were able to experimentally infect ferrets with H10N7. These ferrets experienced respiratory tract inflammation, secondary bacterial infection, and fatal pneumonia, similar to harbor seals (van den Brand et al., 2016). The ability of this virus to infect terrestrial mammals is a warning sign for its zoonotic potential (van den Brand et al., 2016). Additionally, there have been over 800 cases of the H5N1 strain of avian influenza in humans since 2003 (World Health Organization, 2024). Continued monitoring of influenza A in seals is important for preparing for prospective future pandemics.

1.3.2 Phocine Distemper Virus (PDV)

There are several different types of Morbilliviruses, for example PDV, measles virus, canine distemper virus (CDV), and cetacean morbillivirus (CeMV) (Jo et al., 2018). CDV has previously infected both dogs and pinnipeds, but it is unknown whether PDV can be transmitted to dogs (Northeast Fisheries Science Center, 2022). While PDV is not zoonotic, it is an infectious disease of concern and outbreaks in pinnipeds can provide information on the overall health of the ocean.

There have been multiple PDV epidemics in both the northwest and northeast Atlantic harbor seal populations. Outbreaks in Europe occurred in 1988 and 2002, and UMEs were declared in the United States in 2006 and 2018 (Bodewes et al., 2013; Puryear et al., 2021). Harp seals (*Pagophilus groenlandicus*) were a suspected reservoir species for PDV prior to the 1988 outbreak (Duignan et al., 1997). Eighty-three percent of harp seals tested in the Gulf of St. Lawrence, Canada between 1988 and 1993, and 30% tested in eastern Greenland from 1985-1986, were seropositive, indicating that this species has been exposed

to PDV since at least 1985 (Dietz et al., 1989; Duignan et al., 1997). With their large population and high-density aggregations, disease transmission can occur easily in this group (Duignan et al., 1997; NOAA Fisheries, 2022b). A harp seal mass migration from the Barent's Sea to the North Sea was suspected to have led to the 1988 harbor seal outbreak (Dietz et al., 1989; Duignan et al., 1997). Since harp seals disperse as juveniles and can transmit diseases to other Arctic pinnipeds, it is plausible that harp seals in the Barent's Sea also carried PDV and were the source of this outbreak (Duignan et al., 1997).

The distribution of harp seals ranges from the northwest Atlantic Ocean to the Barent's Sea (Figure 1.1) (NOAA Fisheries, 2022b). Since their distribution spans the entire width of the Atlantic Ocean, it is likely that they also introduced PDV to the northwest Atlantic harbor seal population before the 2006 UME (Puryear et al., 2021). Other arctic seals, including ringed (*Pusa hispida*), hooded (*Cystophora cristata*), bearded (*Erignathus barbatus*), and spotted seals (*Phoca largha*) have been infected with PDV (Duignan et al., 1997; VanWormer et al., 2019). A 2002 Arctic Sea ice minimum connecting the eastern Atlantic Ocean with the Pacific Ocean was positively correlated with PDV exposure in Pacific pinnipeds (Figure 1.1) (VanWormer et al., 2019). Steller sea lions (*Eumetopias jubatus*) and northern fur seals (*Callorhinus ursinus*) in the Pacific reached a peak in PDV exposure in 2009 (VanWormer et al., 2019).

In addition to influenza A, gray seals may be a reservoir species for PDV. Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) is a common test for detecting a virus in an individual. In the 2018 PDV outbreak, 73.5% of harbor seals and 35.7% of gray seals tested were RT-PCR positive for PDV (Puryear et al., 2021). Between 2016 and 2020, 9.78% to 21.88% of gray seal pups sampled in the Gulf of Maine were RT-PCR positive but did not

show any clinical symptoms of PDV (Puryear et al., 2021). While harbor seals have been found with PDV antibodies up to a decade after an outbreak, the proportion of immune individuals decreases over time, leading to increased susceptibility (Bodewes et al., 2013). PDV can also circulate within pinniped populations at low numbers after outbreaks (Puryear et al., 2021). Increased temperatures are expected to increase the frequency of infectious disease outbreaks (Calvin et al., 2023). Coupled with habitat loss and increased interspecies interactions due to climate change, the spread of viruses like PDV and influenza A is likely to grow in the future.

1.4 Climate Change

1.4.1 Coastal erosion

As climate change continues, pinnipeds are losing their terrestrial habitats due to sea level rise, erosion, and ice melt. Sea level anomalies are a major consequence of climate change, and it contributes to coastal erosion just as much or even more than severe storms (e.g. hurricanes) (Theuerkauf et al., 2014). Under the IPCC A2 scenario, the sea level in California is projected to rise 1.4 meters by 2100 (DR et al., 2009). Nehasil (2010) found that 99% of California sea lion (*Zalophus californianus*), northern elephant seal (*Mirounga angustirostris*), and Pacific harbor seal haul-outs in central and southern California will be affected by this 1.4 m increase. Pinnipeds often choose haul-out locations that are close to high quality foraging areas and that are suitable for breeding. If they are displaced due to eroding coastlines, their health and survival will likely decline.

The Northwestern Hawaiian Islands (NWHI) includes French Frigate Shoals (FFS), where Hawaiian monk seals (*Monachus schauinslandi*) pup. Three FFS islands (Whaleskate,

Trig, and East Islands) that this population uses for pupping have been eroding and are now almost fully submerged due to sea level rise and storms (Baker et al., 2020). This has severely decreased pup survival and the Hawaiian monk seal birth rate overall (Baker et al., 2020). The erosion of these islands is providing Galapagos sharks (*Carcharhinus galapagensis*) with easy access to pups, resulting in more predation events (Baker et al., 2020). Out of the 8 NWHI, FFS has the third lowest amount of land area, but has the greatest abundance of Hawaiian monk seals (Baker et al., 2020). While the amount of land available is decreasing in FFS, these seals are continuing to return because it allows them to access 31% of all NWHI foraging area (Baker et al., 2020). As the FFS islands disappear, access to this foraging area will decrease. Food availability is important for pinniped health, and changes in foraging may result in more strandings (SWFSC, 2016).

Strandings of harbor, gray, and harp seals in Maine frequently involved human interaction in high population and tourist areas (Haverkamp et al., 2023; Newcomb et al., 2021). This was especially true for harbor seals who pup during tourist season (May and June) (Newcomb et al., 2021). The most common type of human interaction that pinnipeds in Maine experience is harassment, including human approach, displacement, and unauthorized collection (Newcomb et al., 2021). Harassment from humans can alter pinniped behavior, leading to maternal pup abandonment and increased stress levels in these animals (Newcomb et al., 2021).

Increased interactions with pinnipeds can be negative for humans too, as they can contract zoonotic diseases from pinnipeds. Marine mammal workers have attributed bacterial infections and other illnesses to direct marine mammal contact (Hunt et al., 2008). As haulout space becomes limited, pinnipeds may haul-out in denser groups, resulting in increased

disease transmission. Zoonotic spillover events are more likely to occur when species are living in high density groups near each other (Ellwanger & Chies, 2021). Gray seals are typically a reservoir species for infectious diseases, and they have been seen to haul-out in denser groups than harbor seals who are more susceptible to diseases (Hoekendijk et al., 2023).

Additionally, humans will have to compete with pinnipeds for space and other resources. This has already been seen at Children's Pool in La Jolla, California and Great Point, Nantucket (Nehasil, 2010). Use of beach space by pinnipeds at Children's Pool demonstrates the need for policy makers to adapt to changing coastlines to determine whether an area should be designated for pinniped or human use. Competition between recreational fishermen and gray seals for fish near Great Point has also caused tension, resulting in the formation of the Seal Abatement Coalition (SAC). This group created a petition with the goal of amending the MMPA to allow for the disturbance of these seals (Seal Abatement Coalition (SAC), 2012). The petition has since been closed and no changes were made to the MMPA, however it is not unlikely that competition for resources will cause more groups like the SAC to form in the future.

1.4.2 Sea ice

Arctic pinnipeds rely on sea ice for pupping, nursing, and resting. As climate change worsens and ice availability decreases, bearded and Pacific harbor seal movements have changed (Boye et al., 2020; Cameron et al., 2018; Womble et al., 2021). Young bearded seals in the Bering Sea prefer habitat that is close to the ice edge (Cameron et al., 2018). As the ice retreats, seasonally and due to climate change, these seals move with the ice edge (Boye et al., 2020; Cameron et al., 2018). Pacific harbor seals in Glacier Bay National Park, Alaska

rely on icebergs calved by tidewater glaciers for pupping and molting (Womble et al., 2021). During the pupping season in June when there is greater ice cover, the seals are more spread out than during the molting season in August (Womble et al., 2021). Additionally, in years with greater ice cover there was a larger abundance of harbor seals in the area (Womble et al., 2021). With decreasing ice cover, Arctic pinnipeds will have to compete with each other for this space, or they may opt to haul-out on land (Stenson & Hammill, 2014).

Decreasing sea ice has also been linked to an increase in shipping activity in the Arctic (Druckenmiller et al., 2022). The impacts of increased icebreaker activity in the Caspian sea include mother-pup separation, breeding site collapse, and ship strikes on Caspian seals (*Pusa caspica*) (Wilson et al., 2017). In 2006, 9.6% and 1.4 to 1.9% of Caspian and harp seal pups, respectively, had potential exposure to collision risk (Wilson et al., 2020). Shipping activity along the Northern Sea Route (NSR) has shifted in recent years. NSR activity was previously highest from July to November, however an increase in usage from December to May has been observed, now overlapping with Arctic pinniped pupping season (Humpert, 2019; Wilson et al., 2020). Walruses (*Odobenus rosmarus*) and harp, ringed, gray, ribbon (*Histriophoca fasciata*), spotted, and bearded seals breed in areas with moderate to frequent shipping activity, putting them at risk of collisions and other negative effects from ships (Wilson et al., 2020).

As less ice and more land becomes available to ice-obligate pinnipeds, their feeding and reproductive success has declined (Jay et al., 2017; Jüssi et al., 2008; Stenson & Hammill, 2014). The Pacific walrus commonly hauls out on ice to rest between foraging trips (Jay et al., 2017). Models showed that walruses spend more time foraging when sea ice is available, in contrast to when only land is available (Jay et al., 2017). Gray seals in the Baltic

Sea and harp seals in the Gulf of St Lawrence also have lower reproductive fitness when less ice is available (Jüssi et al., 2008; Stenson & Hammill, 2014). Gray seal pups that are born on land have higher mortality and poorer body conditions than those born on ice (Jüssi et al., 2008). Harp seals have not been found to pup on land, however they will give birth on extremely thin ice, resulting in high pup mortality (Stenson & Hammill, 2014). Antarctic seals utilize underwater vocalizations to initiate breeding (Roca et al., 2023). Negative sea ice anomalies are correlated with a decrease in the vocalizations, indicating that a decrease in ice cover may negatively impact reproductive success (Roca et al., 2023). Sea ice is essential for ice-obligate pinniped health, and its decline will likely result in higher mortality, lower reproductive success, and behavioral changes.

1.4.3 Prey shifts

Along with rising temperatures, many marine organisms are expected to shift their geographic distributions in order to stay within suitable temperature ranges. As generalist feeders, information on the status of many lower trophic level fish can be obtained from studying pinniped diet. Many pinnipeds also feed on commercially important species. This is especially true for California sea lions who typically consume sardine (*Sardina sp.*), anchovy (*Engraulis sp.*), rockfishes (*Sebastes sp.*), squid (Decapodiformes), and hakes (Phycidae) (Robinson et al., 2018; Weise & Harvey, 2008). California sea lion diet composition is positively related to what prey is most abundant in the environment at the time (Robinson et al., 2018; Weise & Harvey, 2008). In addition to providing information to fisheries regarding stock status, California sea lion (and other pinniped species) diet composition can be used as a preliminary assessment for how climate change and other anthropogenic factors are impacting lower trophic level distribution and abundance.

Northern fur seals (NFS) in California are income breeders, meaning they nurse their pups for several months, occasionally leaving for short foraging trips (Berta et al., 2015). NFSs typically forage in prey patches that are close to their breeding sites, however those prey patches are predicted to move as climate change worsens (McHuron et al., 2023). Models showed that NFSs will feed in their usual high quality prey patches until they are 400 km away from their breeding site (McHuron et al., 2023). After that, they will feed in lower quality prey patches that are closer to "home" (McHuron et al., 2023). Observations of NFS feeding behavior will provide information on prey habitat and quality.

Changes in prey quality can also be seen in ringed and gray seal diets. A model of ringed seal diet under different greenhouse gas emissions scenarios showed that under high emissions, all prey will have a lower mean body size, but total prey biomass will increase (Florko et al., 2021). Baltic gray seal blubber thickness was found to increase with individual herring weight but decrease with the quantity of herring consumed (Kauhala et al., 2017). Pinniped health, such as blubber thickness, will play in important role in investigating changes in prey quality over time. Additionally, the quality of pinniped prey will be determined by primary productivity and changes in lower trophic levels.

Long-term changes in pinniped diet can be measured from stable isotope ratios in their teeth and bone collagen. Stable isotope levels in marine mammals can show changes in lower trophic levels. If phytoplankton experience changes in Carbon and Nitrogen sources, this will be reflected in higher trophic level organism, like pinnipeds (Hirons et al., 2001). Carbon (δ^{13} C) and Nitrogen (δ^{15} N) isotope ratios were measured in Antarctic fur seal (*Arctocephalus gazella*) (AFS) teeth from 1983-2015 (de Lima et al., 2022). de Lima et al. (2022) found a decrease in δ^{13} C and an increase in δ^{15} N, which may indicate changes in krill (*Euphuasia sp.*) diet or a shift in AFS diet towards higher trophic level prey. δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N were also measured in the bone collagen of steller sea lions, northern fur seals, and harbor seals in the Bering Sea and Gulf of Alaska from 1951-1997 (Hirons et al., 2001). Hirons et al. (2001) saw no change in δ^{15} N and a decrease in δ^{13} C. The decrease in δ^{13} C may be the result of declines in phytoplankton growth rates and primary productivity (Hirons et al., 2001). Changes in prey distribution, quality, and quantity will not only impact pinniped health but will effect commercial fisheries as well. Fishermen may be required to shift where they typically catch seafood. Additionally, if the quality of their catch decreases, it may be seen as less valuable (Shalders et al., 2022).

1.5 Toxicology

As a result of industrialization, chemical pollutants are frequently released into the environment. Two major classes that affect pinnipeds are trace elements and persistent organic pollutants (POPs). Trace elements (e.g. iron, zinc, copper, aluminum, and mercury) are minerals that are present in the natural environment (National Research Council (US) Committee on Diet and Health, 1989). Essential trace elements (e.g. selenium (Se), copper (Cu), and zinc (Zn)) are biologically required by pinnipeds, however excess exposure can cause adverse effects, while non-essential trace elements (e.g. lead (Pb), cadmium (Cd), arsenic (As), and mercury (Hg)) are toxic at any level (Ashley et al., 2020; Puchades et al., 2022). POPs are also harmful to pinnipeds, as they are manmade chemicals that have low solubility in water, allowing them to persist in aquatic environments (Walker et al., 2012).

Anthropogenic sources of both trace elements and POPs in the ocean include sewage outfalls, commercial activity, runoff from land, precipitation, pesticide spraying, and

shipwrecks (Walker et al., 2012). Pinnipeds' primary route of exposure to these toxins is through their prey (Berta et al., 2015). Both trace elements and POPs have been found to bioaccumulate within the marine food web (Walker et al., 2012). The transfer of these toxins from prey to predator is known as bioaccumulation (Walker et al., 2012). Only POPs biomagnify, meaning their concentrations multiply as they are transferred to higher trophic levels (Walker et al., 2012). As predators, pinnipeds are often exposed to high levels of these contaminants.

1.5.1 Trace Elements

The level of trace element exposure measured in pinnipeds can provide insight into the concentrations of trace elements in different geographic locations. Two subpopulations of harbor seals in the Wadden Sea forage in different habitats (Griesel et al., 2008). There were differences in Al (aluminum), Mn (manganese), Cu, and Pt (platinum) concentrations between these subpopulations, indicating a difference in trace element concentration in their prey (Griesel et al., 2008). Differences in Cd, Cu, Zn, As, MeHg (methylmercury), Se, and Ag (silver) have also been documented in harbor seal subpopulations in San Juan County and South Puget Sound, Washington (Akmajian et al., 2014; Ashley et al., 2020). Juan Fernandez fur seals (*Arctocephalus philippii*) reside on an isolated archipelago off the coast of Chile (Toro-Valdivieso et al., 2023). Despite their remote location, far from any urban cities, high levels of Cd and Hg were found in their feces (Toro-Valdivieso et al., 2023). This indicates that trace elements are able to be transported throughout the ocean.

Changes in trace element concentrations over time have been observed in pinnipeds. The South American fur seal (*Arctocephalus australis*) (SAFS) and South American sea lion (*Otaria flavescens*) (SASL) had higher Cr (chromium) levels from 1970 to 89 compared to 1944 to 69 and 1990 to 2013, likely due to industrial activity (De María et al., 2021). Caspian seals also experienced a decrease in Zn and Se, and an increase in Pb from the late 90s and early 2000s to 2013 to 2016 (Hoseini et al., 2022). While the release of trace elements into the environment is regulated, there are still unregulated instances of their transport into the marine environment, leading to fluctuations in their concentrations (Piwowarska et al., 2024).

Diet has been found to affect the concentrations of certain trace metals in pinnipeds as well. The SAFS, who feed on squid offshore, had higher Cd levels than the SASL, who have a coastal, benthic diet (De María et al., 2021). However, SASLs had higher Pb and Cu concentrations than SAFSs (De María et al., 2021). Caspian seals, which feed primarily on fish, were found with lower Cd levels than other pinnipeds with an invertebrate diet (Hoseini et al., 2022). It appears that which trace elements pinnipeds are exposed to depends on which trophic position they feed at.

Trace elements can be transferred from the mother to the fetus/pup through the placenta and lactation, as observed in a spotted seal mother-fetus pair in the Sea of Japan and gray seal mother-pup pairs in Scotland (Habran et al., 2013; Simokon & Trukhin, 2021). All trace elements found in the spotted seal mother were detected in the fetus, with Be (beryllium), Sb (antimony), Th (thorium), and U (uranium) at higher concentrations in the fetus (Simokon & Trukhin, 2021). Similarly, all trace elements measured, except Cd, were transferred through lactation in the gray seal pairs (Habran et al., 2013). Pups may excrete these metals by the time they're weaned by shedding their lanugo (Trukhanova et al., 2022). Lagoda ringed seal pups had higher concentrations of Hg, Cr, and Zn in their lanugo before they molted (Trukhanova et al., 2022). Additionally, Cd concentrations were much higher in pup lanugo than hair from adult ringed seals (Trukhanova et al., 2022). Still-born ringed seal

pups also had higher Ni (nickel) concentrations in their hair than live-born pups and adults (Hyvärinen & Sipilä, 1984).

There is limited information on the toxic effects of trace elements when above their "normal" thresholds in pinnipeds. Some harbor seals have shown a hypersensitivity response when exposed to heavy metals, meaning they experience an extreme immune response (Kakuschke et al., 2005; Momtazmanesh & Rezaei, 2022). These hypersensitive seals displayed elevated liver function, possibly due to a detoxing response to the elevated metal concentrations in their blood (Kakuschke et al., 2011). The effects of trace metals were also tested on the harbor seal lymphoma B cell line, which can be used as an immune model (Frouin et al., 2010). High levels of As, Se, V (vanadium), Ag, Zn, and Fe reduced the functional activities of the immune cells, which may weaken the immune system and alter harbor seal disease resistance (Frouin et al., 2010).

1.5.2 Persistent organic pollutants (POPs)

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are endocrine disrupting chemicals, meaning that they can negatively impact hormones involved in growth and reproduction (NIEHS, 2023; Tanabe, 2002). In northern fur seals in Alaska, POP concentrations were correlated with changes in gene expression related to blubber metabolism pathways (Soulen et al., 2022). Additionally, POPs have been found to negatively impact lymphocyte and immune function in Pacific harbor seals (Mos et al., 2006). Reductions in blubber metabolism and immune response both have the ability to increase pinniped disease susceptibility.

Measuring POP concentrations in pinnipeds can provide information on their levels in the environment over time. The Stockholm Convention, put into effect in 2004, is a global treaty that aims to "protect human health and the environment from persistent organic

pollutants" (Lallas, 2001). Since 2004, POP levels in pinnipeds around the world have decreased. Scotland gray seals sampled from 2015 to 2017 had 75% of the polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) concentrations that were measured in 2002 (Robinson et al., 2019). Similarly, PCB, Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), chlordane (CHL), and hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH) levels in Canadian Arctic ringed seals decreased from 1972 to 2016 (Houde et al., 2019). To measure current usage of DDT, the ratio between DDT and its metabolites, dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE) and dichlorodiphenyldichloroethane (DDD), is determined. In Antarctic Weddell seals (*Leptonychotes weddellii*), the ratio of DDE:DDT has increased, indicating a decrease in the use of DDT (Trumble et al., 2012). However, in the Baikal seal (*Pusa sibirica*) from Russia and the Caspian seal from the Caspian Sea, ratios of DDT and its metabolites show recent use of DDT (Hoseini et al., 2022; Mamontov et al., 2019). Baseline measurements of POP concentrations in pinnipeds can help to determine changes in POP usage and exposure in the future.

Pinnipeds can also provide information on geographic differences in POPs. Pacific harbor seals in Puget Sound, Washington, had PCB concentrations 7 times greater than harbor seals in the Strait of Georgia, Canada (Cullon et al., 2005). Differences in hexachlorobenzene (HCB) and β-HCH concentrations were found between ringed seals in different areas of the Canadian Arctic (Houde et al., 2019). Additionally, ringed seals in Barrow, Alaska had higher concentrations of multiple POPs than those in Nome, Alaska (Kucklick et al., 2006). The Pechora Sea and Svalbard walrus populations exhibited differences in PCB, polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE), and oxychlordane concentrations (Boltunov et al., 2019). Antarctic pinnipeds also had high levels of HCHs,

HCB, Heptachlor, Aldrin, Endrin, DDTs, and Methoxychlor, showing that POPs can be transported to remote areas (Vergara et al., 2019). Cullon et al (2019) investigated the difference in PCB levels between Puget Sound and Strait of Georgia harbor seals using food baskets of the two subpopulations' prey. They found that the greater PCB concentrations in Puget Sound seals were due to local environmental contamination, not a difference in diet (Cullon et al., 2005). However, caution should be used when observing differences in environmental POPs between pinniped subpopulations, as their diet may also be impacting their exposure. Walrus populations that consume seals may have higher POP concentrations than those that feed primarily on benthic invertebrates due to biomagnification (Boltunov et al., 2019; Kucklick et al., 2006; Tsygankov et al., 2015).

Maternal transfer of POPs has been observed in multiple pinniped species. Per- and polyfluorinated substances (PFAS) were measured in Australian sea lion (*Neophoca cinerea*), Australian fur seal (*Arctocephalus pusillus*), and New Zealand fur seal (*Arctocephalus forsteri*) pups as a result of maternal transfer (Taylor et al., 2021). A model produced by Hickie et al. (2005) showed that nursing ringed seal mothers can transfer 5 to 40% of their POP levels to their milk, which is then transferred to their pups. Selective transfer of these contaminants has been observed in harp and gray seal mother-pup pairs in Canada (Frouin et al., 2012; SORMO et al., 2003). Pup blubber and milk from the mothers had similar POP makeup and concentrations in both species (Frouin et al., 2012; SORMO et al., 2003). Hydrophilic compounds like HCH are also more easily transferred from the mother's blubber to milk (Frouin et al., 2012; Sormo et al., 2003). Knowledge of POP maternal transfer is important when investigating the toxic effects of POPs and their changes throughout time and regions.

1.6 Plastic

1.6.1 Macroplastic

Physical pollution is overwhelming the oceans. A major threat to pinnipeds has become entanglement in microplastic, which is plastic that is larger than 5 mm. Most entanglements are caused by fishing gear including lines, nets, ropes, and packing bands (Jepsen & de Bruyn, 2019). As a result, foraging, swimming, and reproductive behaviors may become negatively impacted (Butterworth, 2016). Many entanglements occur in the northern Pacific ocean, impacting Hawaiian monk seals, steller sea lions, California sea lions, Northern elephant seals, and harbor seals (Dau et al., 2009; Henderson, 2001; Raum-Suryan et al., 2009). Perez-Venegas et al (2023) modeled pinniped entanglement across the globe, and found that the Hawaiian Islands, USA and Kaikoura Island, New Zealand were two major hotspots. They attributed this to the transport of debris via ocean currents and these locations' close proximity to ocean gyres (Perez-Venegas et al., 2023). Similarly, entanglements have been observed in Antarctica, which is uninhabited by humans (Hofmeyr et al., 2006). Antarctic fur seals have been seen entangled in fishing gear, which either occurred far offshore or the debris drifted to Antarctica (Hofmeyr et al., 2006).

While global rates of entanglement appear to have remained constant, the number of successful disentanglements has increased (Jepsen & de Bruyn, 2019). However, a review by Jepsen and de Bruyn (2019) found that pinniped entanglements may be underreported due to unpublished monitoring data and lower representation from developing nations, possibly skewing this data. Observations of entanglements in remote locations can provide information on unreported abandoned or lost fishing gear (Perez-Venegas et al., 2023).

Overall, at least 1 individual from 67% of pinniped species have been reported entangled, making them an excellent group to study when monitoring marine debris (Jepsen & de Bruyn, 2019).

1.6.2 Microplastic

Microplastics (1-5000 µm) are the result of either physical and chemical weathering of macroplastic, or they are created that size, for example plastic pellets and microbeads (Andrady, 2011). Ingestion of microplastics by pinnipeds is common and is mainly due to indirect ingestion through their prey (Nelms et al., 2018). The amount and types of microplastics consumed in pinnipeds can be used to gather estimates of microplastic in the environment (Ortega-Borchardt et al., 2023a). Similar to findings of microplastics in the environment, pinnipeds typically consume more fibers than fragments (Bosker et al., 2018; Covernton et al., 2019; Hogan, 2022; Nel & Froneman, 2015; Nelms, Barnett, et al., 2019; Ortega-Borchardt et al., 2023b; Yu et al., 2018).

The most common polymers of microplastics found in pinnipeds have been rayon, polyethylene terephthalate or polyester (PET), polypropylene (PP), polyethylene (PE), and nylon (Eriksson & Burton, 2003; Nelms, Barnett, et al., 2019; Ortega-Borchardt et al., 2023b). Fishing lines, ropes, and nets are typically made of PET, PP, or nylon (NOAA Marine Debris Program, n.d.). Additionally, most studies have found common colors to be blue, black, gray, red, clear, and white (Eriksson & Burton, 2003; Hogan, 2022; Nelms, Barnett, et al., 2019; Ortega-Borchardt et al., 2023b; Perez-Venegas et al., 2020).

During the plastic making process, chemicals called additives are incorporated into the plastic (Andrady, 2011). When the plastic starts to fragment and microplastics are formed, these additives can leach into the surrounding environment (Andrady, 2011). In

Mediterranean monk seals (*Monachus monachus*), concentrations of microplastics were positively correlated with the number of phthalates in their scat (Hernandez-Milian et al., 2023). Phthalates are a common plastic additive, which are also endocrine disruptors (Hernandez-Milian et al., 2023). While the effects of phthalates on pinniped health have not been studied, this research shows that they are exposed to this chemical through microplastics. In marine mammals stranded along the British coast, including pinnipeds and cetaceans, those that died due to infectious disease had higher microplastic abundances than those with trauma or "other" as their cause of death (Nelms et al., 2019). There is no clear evidence of microplastics causing infectious disease in pinnipeds, however their function as a vector for harmful chemicals and bacteria should be studied further (Andrady, 2011; Nelms, Barnett, et al., 2019; Rotjan et al., 2019).

1.7 Summary

The anthropogenic threats that pinnipeds currently face are interconnected. The severity and spread of infectious disease between pinnipeds is likely to increase as climate change and pollution intensify. Some infectious diseases thrive in warmer temperatures (Calvin et al., 2023). Additionally, habitat loss due to climate change will cause pinnipeds to haul-out in higher density groups, which may increase the spread of disease between individuals (Hoekendijk et al., 2023; Nehasil, 2010). Increasing exposure to toxic chemicals and microplastic may weaken pinniped species' immune systems, making them more susceptible to infectious diseases (Frouin et al., 2010; Kakuschke et al., 2011; Nelms, Barnett, et al., 2019). Chemicals can adsorb onto and leach out of microplastics, contaminating the surrounding environment and any organisms that consume them (Andrady,
2011; Nelms et al., 2018). Pinniped prey quality may not only be worsened by climate change and shifting habitat ranges, but also by exposure to toxins and microplastics.

Since pinnipeds mainly consume microplastics via their prey, it is important to understand the relationship between pinniped diet and microplastic ingestion. Hogan (2022) and Hudak & Sette (2019) performed preliminary analyses of gray seal microplastic exposure in Massachusetts. Both studies found microplastics in scat samples. Hogan (2022) extracted microplastics from 19 scat samples from Great Point, Nantucket. All of their samples included fibers, and 18 had fragments (Hogan, 2022). The main purpose of Hudak & Sette (2019)'s study was to analyze the diet of gray seals on Cape Cod, however they also found microplastic fragments in 2 out of 129 samples.

Gray seals are an excellent sentinel species for ecosystem health because they are generalist predators, giving them the ability to provide information on microplastic consumption for many lower trophic level and commercially important fish and invertebrate species. In the present study, I have isolated microplastics and prey hard parts, and extracted DNA from 112 gray seal scat samples from Great Point, Nantucket, MA. The main objective is to investigate the relationship between gray seal diet and their ingestion of microplastics. The findings from this study will give insight into microplastic presence around Great Point and will be useful in guiding future research surrounding the trophic transfer of microplastics.

Tables

Table 1.1 Pinniped exposure to Phocine Distemper Virus (PDV) and Avian Influenza. Species exposed: *Pagophilus groenlandicus* (Pg), *Phoca vitulina* (Pv), *Halichoerus grypus* (Hg), *Eumetopias jubatus* (Ej), and *Callorhinus ursinus* (Cu). Exposure type: Antibodies, positive, positive with no symptoms, and Mass Mortality Event (MME).

Infectious Disease	Species	Location	Year	Exposure	Source
	Pg	Greenland	1985-86	Antibodies	Dietz et al., 1989
	Pg	Canada	1988-93	Antibodies	Duignan et al., 1997
	Pv	Europe	1988	MME	Bodewes et al., 2013
	Pv	Europe	2002	MME	Bodewes et al., 2013
PDV	Pv	New England, USA	2006	MME	Puryear et al., 2021
ID.	Ej	US Pacific	2009	Positive	VanWormer et al., 2019
	Cu	US Pacific	2009	Positive	VanWormer et al., 2019
	Pv	New England, USA	2018	MME	Puryear et al., 2021
	Hg	New England, USA	2018	Positive – no symptoms	Puryear et al., 2021
	Pv	New England, USA	2011	MME	Anthony et al., 2012
	Hg	NW Atlantic	2013-15	Antibodies	Puryear et al., 2016
Influenzo	Pv	Denmark	2014	MME	Krog et al., 2015
	Pv	Germany	2014	MME	Bodewes et al., 2015
	Pv	Sweden	2014	MME	Zohari et al., 2014
	Hg	Netherlands	2015	Antibodies	Bodewes et al., 2015
	Pv	New England, USA	2022	MME	Puryear et al., 2023

Figures



Figure 1.1 Distribution of harp, harbor, and gray seals in the Arctic Ocean (NOAA Fisheries, 2022a, 2022b, 2022c). The direction of the 2002 sea ice minimum arrow indicates the spread of PDV to the Pacific Ocean (VanWormer et al., 2019). Map from Price (2023). (Price, 2023)

CHAPTER 2

UTILIZING PREY HARD PARTS AND DNA METABARCODING TECHNIQUES TO ASSESS GRAY SEAL (*HALICHOERUS GRYPUS*) DIET

2.1 Abstract

As the gray seal (*Halichoerus grypus*) population in the Northwest Atlantic has recovered from near-extirpation, interest in their diet has grown. Traditional methods of studying gray seal diet include isolating and identifying prey hard parts (e.g. otoliths, dermal denticles, squid beaks, etc.) from scat and stomach samples. Otoliths, specifically, are used to identify fish species, however these structures may be partially or fully digested, biasing hard parts analyses toward certain prey types. Additionally, gray seals have been observed eating only the body of certain fish species, excluding the head and otoliths of these prey. New research has employed DNA metabarcoding to construct gray seal diet. This method has been able to detect prey types that previous hard parts studies have not. This chapter explores differences between prey hard parts and DNA metabarcoding, using the mtDNA 16S gene, in 112 gray seal scat samples collected from Great Point, Nantucket. Our results support previous findings that DNA metabarcoding reduces the biases found with prey hard parts. DNA metabarcoding recovered 44 prey taxa from 101 out of 112 samples, whereas prey hard parts identified 21 taxa from 71/112 samples. However, there are still limitations to using

DNA metabarcoding, as it cannot provide information on the abundance or biomass of prey types in a sample. Our findings suggest that DNA metabarcoding offers a more comprehensive assessment of gray seal diet than prey hard parts, although future work is needed to quantitatively assess diet using metabarcoding.

2.2 Introduction

Once nearing extirpation due to hunting, gray seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) have recolonized much of their historic range in the Northwest (NW) Atlantic since becoming a protected species (den Heyer et al., 2021; Wood et al., 2020). As the population has recovered, new breeding and haul-out sites have been established in the northeast U.S. including Great Point, Nantucket, where pupping was documented in 2018 (Wood et al., 2020). Along with the resurgence of their population, interest in gray seal diet has grown. This is largely due to perceived competition between gray seals and fishermen for commercially important fish species (Baraff & Loughlin, 2000). Gray seals are known to feed on Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*), haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*), pollock (*Pollachius pollachius*), flatfish (Pleuronectiformes), and skates (Rajiformes) (Ampela, 2009; Bowen & Harrison, 1994). Being generalist feeders, studying their diet can help determine the abundance and distribution of the numerous lower trophic level species they consume (Berta et al., 2015; Moore, 2008).

The most common method of studying pinniped diet is hard parts identification from scat samples. Since pinnipeds haul-out on shore, collecting scat is easy and non-invasive. Fish otoliths, skate dermal denticles, squid beaks, and other bony structures are commonly found in scat. Otoliths are used to identify fish species; however these structures may be

partially or fully digested, biasing hard parts analyses toward certain prey types (Bowen, 2000). Additionally, gray seals may exclude the heads of fish when eating them, leaving out any otoliths (Ampela, 2009). It is possible that vertebrae from these fish will be found in seal scat, but without otoliths, the species of fish are unidentifiable. Gray seals also consume invertebrates, whose remains are often not found in scat (Lerner et al., 2018; McCosker et al., 2020). Due to the unreliability of hard parts, other methods of diet analysis have been developed in more recent years.

More recently, stable isotopes, fatty acids, and prey DNA have been utilized in gray seal diet studies (Flanders et al., 2020; Ono et al., 2019; Tucker et al., 2008). Analysis of carbon (¹³C) and nitrogen (¹⁵N) stable isotopes can identify prey trophic levels from skin, vibrissae, and lanugo samples (Lerner et al., 2018; Tucker et al., 2007). Similar to stable isotopes, fatty acid signatures found in blubber are useful in long-term diet analyses, for example determining the diet of an individual over weeks or months (Ampela, 2009; Beck et al., 2007). Prey DNA extracted from scat samples can provide information on short-term diet (days). All of these methods are able to detect invertebrates and cartilaginous fish, whose presence may be underestimated in hard parts analyses.

Stable isotope and fatty acid analyses both involve physical contact with the seals to collect samples (Lerner et al., 2018; Tucker et al., 2007). Prey hard parts and DNA can both be extracted from scat samples, which causes less disturbance to seals compared to sampling blubber and skin tissue. One drawback to the non-invasive collection of seal scat is that it is not known which individual the sample came from. Age, weight, health status, and other characteristics are unknown, however sex can be determined using a primer that targets the ZFY gene on the Y chromosome of male gray seals (Dufault et al., 2021; Flanders et al.,

2020; McCosker et al., 2020). An advantage of prey DNA is that is uses the same sample type as hard parts analyses. By identifying diet using hard parts and DNA metabarcoding from the same scat samples, we can easily compare the results between the two methods.

Species-specific primers can be used to target species of interest within a predator's diet (Casper et al., 2007; Dufault et al., 2021; Marshall et al., 2010; Ono et al., 2019). This technique is useful when monitoring the consumption of certain species to answer ecological questions. For example, investigating the presence of Atlantic cod in gray seal diet as the gray seal population grows. However, a more efficient way to study predator diet is through DNA metabarcoding using group-specific primers (Deagle et al., 2009; Jarman et al., 2004). These primers can be used to evaluate the diversity of a species' diet. While group-specific primers do not offer as much taxonomic resolution as species-specific assays, they detect a broader range of prey types (Deagle et al., 2009).

Although DNA metabarcoding reduces the biases of hard parts analyses, certain prey types may still be excluded (McCosker et al., 2023). This depends on which primer is chosen and the degree to which DNA is degraded in the scat. Metabarcoding with group-specific primers will omit other prey groups. Furthermore, DNA from scat is often degraded, limiting the quality of DNA in the analysis (Waits & Paetkau, 2005).

As generalist predators, gray seals have a diverse diet that can provide information on lower trophic levels (Berta et al., 2015; Moore, 2008). Great Point gray seal diet has not yet been studied, and understanding their feeding habits can give insight into the local food web structure. Ampela (2009) discovered differences in gray seal diets between Muskeget and Monomoy Islands, which are approximately 30 km apart. It's possible that gray seals on Great Point, situated about 20 km from both sites, may have a unique diet as well (Ampela,

2009). This study aims to evaluate the diet composition of gray seals hauled-out on Great Point, Nantucket, comparing the effectiveness of prey hard parts identification and DNA metabarcoding techniques. Both invertebrates and vertebrates can be identified from hard parts, and Primer set B from Deagle et al. (2009) will detect chordate prey. The results of this study will not only provide information on the diet composition of Great Point gray seals but will also allow for comparison of temporal trends in diet between prey hard parts identification and DNA metabarcoding.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Scat Collection

A total of 112 gray seal scat samples were collected from Great Point, Nantucket on 7 dates between November 2017 and June 2022 (Table 2.1). The samples were collected at low tide using a slotted metal scoop to minimize contamination from the sand. They were then individually wrapped in aluminum foil and transported in a cooler to a -20°C freezer at the University of Massachusetts, Boston (UMB). A subsample of ~200 mg of each scat was stored in 1 mL of DNA/RNA shield (Zymo Research) and kept in a -20°C freezer until DNA extraction.

2.3.2 Hard Parts Identification

The weight, length, and width of each sample was recorded. The scat was then defrosted in a glass mason jar for 24 hours. The next day, 100 – 500 mL of hot deionized (DI) water was added to the scat and stirred until the mixture was homogenized. The volume of DI water added was dependent on the size of the scat sample. The scat mixture was poured through a stack of 4mm, 2mm, 1mm, and 500µm sieves. DI water was used to rinse the scat

through the sieves and to clean any hard parts that were found. Fish otoliths, vertebrae, lenses, skate dermal denticles, cephalopod beaks, and crustacean remains were picked out and stored in glass vials for further identification. Guides were used to identify fish taxa from otoliths (Brodeur, 1979; Campana, 2004). Samples with only vertebrae and lenses, and no otoliths, were classified as containing unidentified fish. Samples with dermal denticles were identified as the Rajidae family, cephalopod beaks were identified as the Cephalopoda family, and crustacean claws and shells were identified as the Crustacea sub-phylum.

2.3.3 DNA Metabarcoding

DNA was extracted using the *Quick*-DNA/RNATM Magbead kit (Zymo Research). Samples were incubated in 25µl of Proteinase K at room temperature for 24 hours. Sample placement was randomized across the 96-well plates, and 1 extraction blank per plate (2 total) were used to test for contamination.

PCR was performed in duplicate to amplify the mtDNA 16S gene. Primer set B from Deagle et al (2009) (Chord_16S_F_TagA 5'- ATG CGA GAA GAC CCT RTG GAG CT -3', Chord_16S_R_Short 5'- CCT NGG TCG CCC CAA C -3') and a gray seal blocking primer designed by Flanders et al (2020) (Grayseal-block 5'- ATG GAG CTT TAA TTA ACT AAC TCA ACA GAA CAA /3SpC3/ -3') were used to amplify chordate DNA while reducing the amount of gray seal sequences. Forward and reverse primers were tagmented with Nextera adapter sequences (forward 5'- TCG TCG GCA GCG TCA GAT GTG TAT AAG AGA CAG, reverse 5'- GTC TCG TGG GCT CGG AGA TGT GTA TAA GAG ACA G). PCR was done following the methods from Flanders et al (2020). Samples and blanks were amplified using Molecular Grade Water (12.8µl), 5x MyTaq Reaction Buffer (5µl), MyTaq DNA Polymerase (0.2µl), 10µM forward primer (2µl), 10µM reverse primer (2µl), 100µM gray seal blocking primer (2µl), and template DNA (1µl) for a total of 25µl per well. Cycling conditions are described in Table 2.2. After thermocycling, PCR reactions were tested for amplification using a 1.6% agarose gel.

A second PCR was done to attach a unique combination of Nextera XT indices to each sample. Duplicates were pooled and PCR was done using Index 1 (i7) adapters (5µl), Index 2 (i5) adapters, Azura 2x Taq Mix (15µl), and PCR product (25µl) for a total of 50µl per well. Cycling conditions are described in Table 2.3. PCR reactions were again tested for amplification using a 1.6% agarose gel.

PCR products were then cleaned and normalized using the SequalPrep Normalization Plate Kit. All samples were then pooled for sequencing. The library was sequenced on an Illumina MiSeq using a MiSeq Reagent Kit v2 (300-cycles) with 2 x 250 bp chemistry at UMass Boston.

2.3.4 Bioinformatics and Data Analysis

Bioinformatics were done using Qiime2(Bolyen et al., 2019). The sequences were provided in a demultiplexed format, so reads were entered into Qiime2 as SampleData[PairedEEndSequencesWithQuality] using a manifest file. Next, the data was visualized and inspected for quality. Reads were trimmed where the median quality score dropped below 30. In this case, all bases had a median quality score above 30, so the reads were not trimmed. The data was then denoised using dada2. Taxonomy was assigned via a command-line BLAST using the NCBI non-redundant database. All OTUs that were returned as bacteria or had 2 or less reads were removed. The remaining taxa were inspected and filtered for suspected prey items in the Gulf of Maine (McCosker et al., 2023).

Diet from both prey hard parts and DNA metabarcoding was analyzed by calculating the frequency of occurrence (FO) for each prey taxa. FO describes the presence of a prey type in a sample. FO was calculated as:

$$FO_i = \frac{n_i}{n}$$
 or $\%FO_i = \frac{n_i}{n} \times 100$

Where: n = total number of samples $n_i = \text{total number of samples with prey type } i$

FO was compared qualitatively between the two methods. Alpha diversity, or prey richness, was calculated as the number of unique prey types in a sample.

All statistical analyses were performed in R Studio Version 2023.06.1+524. Generalized Linear Models with the 'glm' function in the package 'car' were used to compare alpha diversity between methods. To assess the relationship between prey, sampling dates, seasons, and years, redundancy analyses (RDA) were performed using the 'rda' function from the 'vegan' package. Prey were classified to their lowest taxonomic level (Table 2.4). Diet was analyzed in the RDA using a prey presence/absence matrix. A permutational multivariate ANOVA (PERMANOVA) was done using the 'adonis2' function from the 'vegan' package to analyze the significance of the environmental variable's contribution to the response variable's diversity. The environmental variables tested were sampling date, season, and year group. Since samples were collected from fall to spring/summer, samples from 2017 to 2018 and 2021 to 2022 were grouped into "year groups" (Table 2.1). If the PERMANOVA was significant (p < 0.05), a chi-square test of independence was done for each prey type and the environmental variable to determine which prey were influencing the RDA.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Prey Hard Parts

Prey hard parts identified 21 prey taxa (Table 2.4) from 71 out of 112 samples (Table 2.5). Prey were classified at the species, genus or order levels (Table 2.4). The 5 prey taxa with the highest % FO were skates (28.57%), sand lance (*Ammodytes sp.*) (21.45%), unidentified fish (19.64%), red/white/spotted hake (Phycidae) (9.82%), and windowpane flounder (*Scophthalmus aquosus*) (8.04%) (Table 2.6). Prey composition from hard parts was significantly different between seasons (p = 0.001, Figure 2.1), year groups (p = 0.046, Figure 2.2), and sampling dates (p = 0.001, Figure 2.3).

Phycid hake (p = 0.028), Gadiformes (p = 0.018), sand lance (p = 0.013), Perciformes (p = 0.017), and skates (p = 3.37e-07) showed significant differences in presence between seasons. Unidentified Gadiformes hard parts were found in more samples from 2021 to 2022 than 2017 to 2018 (p = 0.031). However, when all samples with identified and unidentified Gadiformes hard parts were grouped, there was no significant difference between the number of samples with Gadiformes between year groups (p = 0.397). Sand lance (p = 0.035), Gadiformes (p = 0.023), skates (p = 8.099e-07), and unidentified Pleuronectiformes (p = 0.024) showed significant differences in presence between sampling dates. There was no significant difference in the number of samples with all identified and unidentified Pleuronectiformes hard parts between sampling dates (p = 0.373).

2.4.2 DNA Metabarcoding

A total of 1,737,352 prey reads were included in this analysis. DNA metabarcoding recovered 44 (Table 2.4) taxa from 101 out of 112 samples (Table 2.5). All of the samples in which prey did not amplify were in adjacent wells on the extraction and PCR plates. The

absence of prey DNA in these samples is likely due to human error. Prey were classified at the species, genus, or family level. The 5 taxa with the highest % FO from were skates (87.5%), longhorn sculpin (*Myoxocephalus octodecemspinosus*) (82.14%), Atlantic cod (78.57%), sand lance (77.68%), and windowpane flounder (76.79%) (Table 2.6). Prey composition was not significantly different between seasons (p = 0.223, Figure 2.4), year groups (p = 0.138, Figure 2.5), or sampling dates (p = 0.065, Figure 2.6).

2.4.3 Comparing methods

In total, 108 scat samples contained either prey DNA, prey hard parts, or a combination of both (Table 2.5). Mean prey richness was significantly higher when using DNA metabarcoding (13.58 ± 6.96) than prey hard parts (1.31 ± 1.34) (p < 0.0001) (Figure 2.7). Both methods combined recovered 56 prey taxa. Prey hard parts identified 13 unique taxa, metabarcoding identified 36 unique taxa, and both methods shared 8 taxa (Table 2.4). Of the shared taxa, all had a higher % FO from metabarcoding except for phycid hakes (Table 2.6).

2.5 Discussion

2.5.1 Prey Hard Parts vs DNA Metabarcoding

Overall, DNA metabarcoding was able to identify more taxa in more samples than prey hard parts (Table 2.6). The limited identification of prey from hard parts is partly a result of differences in otolith strength between prey and feeding behaviors of gray seals. The presence of Clupeids (e.g. river herring, Atlantic herring, Atlantic menhaden, etc.) has previously been underestimated in gray seal diet studies due to their fragile otoliths, which easily break down while being digested (Bowen, 2000; Browne et al., 2002). Ampela (2009)

has also reported gray seals avoiding the heads and/or only eating the viscera of summer flounder (*Paralichthys dentatus*), sea bass (Serranidae), sea robin (Triglidae), Atlantic menhaden (*Brevoortia tyrannus*), scup (*Stenotomus chrysops*), alewife (*Alosa pseudoharengus*), and blueback herring (*Alosa aestivalis*). In the present study summer flounder, sea robin, Atlantic menhaden, and river herring (alewife/blueback herring) were only identified using metabarcoding. Black sea bass (*Centropristis striata*) and scup had a much greater % FO from metabarcoding (50.89%; 36.61%) than hard parts (0.89%; 0.89%).

Flatfish (Pleuronectiformes) have also been underestimated in gray seal diet when using prey hard parts. Dufault et al. (2021) found flatfish otoliths in 6.8% of samples while 35.6% of samples contained flatfish DNA. The results from the present study align with this as 16.96% of samples had flatfish otoliths and 83.94% of samples had flatfish DNA. Dufault et al (2021) created a species-specific assay to assess the presence of 4 flatfish species: American plaice (*Hippoglossoides platessoides*), Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*), winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*), and yellowtail flounder (*Pleuronectes ferruginea*). The present study used a group-specific primer for metabarcoding and was able to identify 8 flatfish taxa. The use of a broader primer may be influencing the higher flatfish FO in this study compared to Dufault et al (2021).

Gadoids, including phycid hakes and cod, have stronger otoliths and are less susceptible to erosion (Bowen, 2000). The proportion and importance of Gadoids (e.g. Atlantic cod, phycid hakes, etc.) in gray seal diet has been overestimated in the past (Browne et al., 2002). The five most common prey types differed between methods. Skates, sand lance, and windowpane flounder were in the top five from both methods (Table 2.7). In the hard parts dataset, unidentified fish and phycid hakes were also in the top five; however,

from metabarcoding longhorn sculpin and Atlantic cod were in the top five (Table 2.7). In the present study, phycid hakes were determined to be a common prey type using hard parts (FO = 9.92%), however when using metabarcoding they are slightly less present (FO = 7.14%). The number of samples with phycid hakes did not differ between methods (n = 7), indicating that the strength of these otoliths may allow them to be accurately represented in hard parts. While Atlantic cod also have strong otoliths, Read (2008) has reported incidents of gray seals "belly biting" cod, resulting in exclusion of the head and otoliths. The present study supports this observation, with cod having little presence in hard parts (FO = 2.68%) but being the third most common prey type from metabarcoding (FO = 78.57%). All prey were able to be identified to at least the family level from metabarcoding, whereas unidentified fish were very common in the hard parts data. This further supports the idea that metabarcoding is more reliable and better at identifying prey than hard parts.

2.5.2 Comparisons to past gray seal diet studies

Sand lance has been an important prey type in all gray seal diet studies (Table 2.7). Skates have been important in more recent studies, which have also taken place in Southern New England (SNE) (Table 2.7). The first gray seal diet studies took place on Sable Island, Canada and did not include skates as important prey (Table 2.7). As many Rajidae species', including little skate (*Pleuronectes ferruginea*), distributions expand into Canadian waters, this indicates that skates are either only an important prey type for gray seals in SNE or that they have become more important in their diet over time (Sulak et al., 2009).

The present study's hard parts results are similar to Ampela (2009)'s hard parts results from Muskeget and Monomoy Islands in Massachusetts. Both the present study and Ampela (2009) found skates, sand lance, phycid hake, and windowpane flounder to be in the five most common prey types (Table 2.7). Ampela (2009) also identified winter flounder hard parts whereas neither winter flounder hard parts nor DNA were found in the present study. McCosker et al (2023) also had skates, phycid hake, and sand lance in their top five prey, however invertebrates (crustaceans and echinoderms) were more common than in the current study (Table 2.7).

The results of the present study and McCosker et al (2023) show that DNA metabarcoding is better at detecting and identifying prey in seal scat than hard parts. Flanders et al (2020), McCosker et al (2023), which collected samples from Monomoy, and the present study used primer set B from Deagle et al (2009) to identify prey in gray seal scat. All 3 studies had sand lance in their 5 most common prey types (Table 2.7). The Monomoy studies also had Atlantic menhaden and Pleuronectidae in their top 5 prey types (Table 2.7). McCosker et al (2023) and the present study included skates and windowpane flounder in their top five prey as well. Prey types that were in the top five in only the present study were longhorn sculpin and Atlantic cod. Atlantic mackerel (*Scomber scombrus*) and northern sea robin (*Prionotus carolinus*) were only in the top five in Flanders et al (2020). McCosker et al (2023) did not have any unique prey types in their top five prey.

McCosker et al (2023) and Flanders et al (2021)s' scat samples had an average prey richness of 3.11 and 2.66 respectively. This is much lower than the present study's average prey richness of 13.6. Flanders et al (2021) did not identify flatfish lower than the family level (Pleuronectidae and paralichthyidae). The only flatfish that McCosker et al (2023) identified to the species level was windowpane flounder. Our identification of 6 flatfish to at least the genus level could be increasing prey richness in the present student. Additionally, the previous studies collected scat from Monomoy Island, which is a more established

breeding site with breeding adults and pups (Wood et al., 2020). The gray seals observed at Great Point were majority juveniles or non-breeding adults, which have been observed having a more diverse diet than adults (Ampela, 2009; Beck et al., 2007; Wood et al., 2020). However, it is impossible to determine the age of the seal that a scat sample came from. 2.5.3 Trends in diet

Hard parts data showed significant differences in prey composition between seasons, sampling dates, and years while metabarcoding data did not. The hard parts data also had a much lower % FO for all prey than the metabarcoding data. Since the % FO was lower, it may be showing false trends that do not appear when using DNA metabarcoding. Since metabarcoding was able to identify prey in more samples than hard parts, this created a more uniform composition of prey between samples, resulting in no temporal trends from DNA metabarcoding.

Otolith size is positively correlated with the length of the fish it came from. Sand lance reach their maximum size in the summer each year, meaning their otoliths are largest in the summer (Suca et al., 2021). The results of this study show no sand lance otoliths found in scat samples collected in the summer, indicating that otolith size is not related to its presence in seal scat. Little skates mature around 7 years of age, and their growth or dermal denticle size does not appear to have a relationship with season (Frisk & Miller, 2006). Additional information is required to determine whether temporal trends in diet reflect biological factors for specific prey types or are influenced by biases in hard parts analysis.

In gray seal diet studies using fatty acids and stables isotopes, differences in prey diversity between sexes were observed (Ampela, 2009; Beck et al., 2007; Tucker et al., 2007). Flanders et al (2021) was able to determine genetically determine sex from gray seal

scat, however their results did not display any differences in diet diversity between sexes. Similar to this study, Flanders et al (2021) used the presence and absence of a prey type in a sample to assess differences between sexes. The studies analyzing fatty acids and stable isotopes used the proportions of prey types to investigate trends (Ampela, 2009; Beck et al., 2007; Tucker et al., 2007, 2008). Currently, DNA metabarcoding is only able to determine the presence or absence of taxa.

Seasonal trends in stock distribution and abundance have been documented in a few gray seal prey types. Windowpane flounder is more abundant in Georges Bank in the spring, while American Fourspot flounder (*Hippoglossina oblonga*) is more abundant in the fall (Methratta & Link, 2007; Stokesbury et al., 2019). In the summer, Atlantic cod tends to move away from the coast into deeper, colder water (Langan et al., 2020). Atlantic menhaden migrates into the Gulf of Maine in early spring and returns to the southern US east coast to spawn in the fall (Buchheister et al., 2016). Any trends in the abundance of these fish in gray seal diet would be absent due the qualitative nature of DNA metabarcoding.

2.5.4 Limitations of DNA metabarcoding

While the results of this study show that DNA metabarcoding is better at detecting and identifying prey than prey hard parts, there are still limitations to using metabarcoding. DNA metabarcoding cannot provide information on prey biomass or the proportions of prey in a sample. You also cannot determine the age of the seal the sample was from, but methods have been developed to determine the sex (Flanders et al., 2020). Metabarcoding, especially with broad primers like primer set B, is useful when qualitatively investigating gray seal diet. Fatty acid diet studies use prior knowledge of diet to create fatty acid prey libraries, which metabarcoding can be useful in developing (Tucker et al., 2008). Fatty acid prey libraries,

developed from known diet from hard parts studies, may be excluding prey which only DNA metabarcoding has identified. The development of quantitative DNA metabarcoding methods is ongoing (Thomas et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2024).

The primer used in this study only amplified vertebrate prey, however invertebrates are an important component of gray seal diet (McCosker et al., 2020). Crustaceans and cephalopods were identified in 6.25% and 2.68% of samples from prey hard parts respectively (Table 2.6). Invertebrates are often underestimated in hard parts analyses (McCosker et al., 2020). McCosker et al (2020) developed an invertebrate primer which was able to identify more invertebrate taxa in more samples compared to hard parts. In the future, it would be important to use this primer in conjunction with the chordate primer to get a complete picture of Great Point gray seal diet.

2.5.5 Conclusions

The DNA metabarcoding results show gray seals hauled-out on Great Point, Nantucket have a broad diet, with common prey including skates, Perciformes, Pleuronectiformes, Gadiformes, and Clupeiformes. Many of the prey identified in this study are often recorded in National Marine Fisheries Service bottom trawl surveys, indicating that gray seals feed on what is currently present in the environment (United States. National Marine Fisheries Service, 2017b, 2017a, 2018b, 2018a). The benefits of metabarcoding include greater prey identification across and within scat samples. Metabarcoding was able to identify prey in 27% more samples than hard parts. It also has greater taxonomic resolution, identifying prey at the species, genus, and family levels while hard parts classified prey at the species, genus, and order levels, skipping over family. However, metabarcoding only provides qualitative results, leaving the abundance of each prey type unknown. This study's

findings suggest that DNA metabarcoding offers a more comprehensive assessment of gray seal diet than prey hard parts, although future work is needed to quantitatively assess diet using metabarcoding.

Tables

Date	Sample Size
11-05-2017	18
01-15-2018	6
02-09-2018	21
04-20-2018	10
11-07-2021	14
04-09-2022	23
06-07-2022	20
Total	112

Table 2.1 Gray seal scat sample size by collection date, collected from Great Point, Nantucket.

Table 2.2 PCR conditions for the amplification of the 16S mtDNA gene using primer set B from Deagle et al (2009) and a gray seal blocking primer from Flanders et al (2020).

Temperature (°C)	Time	Number of Cycles
95	3 min.	x1
95	30 sec.	
57	30 sec.	x35
72	30 sec.	
72	10 min.	x1
4	Continuous	Continuous Until Removed

Table 2.3 PCR conditions for the attachment of Nextera XT 1/ and 15 adapt
--

Temperature (°C)	Time	Number of Cycles
72	3 min.	1
95	30 sec.	XI
95	10 sec.	
55	30 sec.	x12
72	30 sec.	
72	5 min.	x1
10	Continuous	Continuous Until Removed

Order/Highest Classification	/Highest Family Genus Scientific Name		Scientific Name	DNA	HP
Anseriformes	Anatidae	Somateria	Somateria mollissima	Y	-
	Clupeidae	Alosa -		Y	-
Clunaiformas	Clupeidae	Brevoortia	Brevoortia tyrannus	Y	-
Chipenonnes	Clupeidae	Clupea	Clupea harengus	Y	-
	Clupeidae	Sardina	Sardina pilchardus	Y	-
	Gadidae	Gadus	Gadus morhua	Y	Y
	Phycidae	Urophycis	Urophycis sp.	-	Y
	Phycidae	Urophycis	Urophycis chuss	Y	-
Gadiformes	Phycidae	Urophycis	cophycis Urophycis regia		-
	Merluccidae	Merluccius	Merluccius bilinearis	Y	Y
	Gadidae	Melanogrammus <i>Melanogrammus aeglefinus</i>		-	Y
	Gadidae			Y	-
	-	-	-	-	Y
Labriformes	Labridae	Tautogolabrus	togolabrus Tautogolabrus adspersus		Y
Labinomies	Labridae	Tautoga	Tautoga onitis	Y	-
Lophiiformes	Lophiidae	-	-	Y	
Mugiliformes	Mugilidae			Y	
Onhidiiformes	Ophidiidae	Ophidion	Ophidion marginatum	Y	-
opinalitotines	Ophidiidae	-	-	-	Y
Perciformes	Cottidae	Myoxocephalus	Myoxocephalus octodecemspinosus	Y	-
	Cottidae	-	-	Y	-

Table 2.4 Taxonomic classification of prey types found in 112 gray seal scat samples, and which method they were identified from. Prey hard parts (HP), DNA metabarcoding (DNA).

	Ammodytidae	Ammodytes	-	Y	-
	Ammodytidae	Ammodytes	Ammodytes americanus	-	Y
	Ammodytidae	-	-	Y	-
	Moronidae	Morone	Morone saxatilis	Y	-
	Triglidae	Prionotus	Prionotus carolinus	Y	-
	Triglidae	Prionotus	-	Y	-
	Serranidae	Centropristis	Centropristis striata	Y	Y
	Liparidae	Liparis	-	Y	-
	Agonidae	Hemitripterus	Hemitripterus americanus	Y	-
	Scombridae	Scomber	Scomber scombrus	Y	-
	Zoarcidae	Zoarces	Zoarces americanus	Y	Y
	Pholidae	Pholis	Pholis gunnellus	Y	-
	Cyclopteridae	Cyclopterus	Cyclopterus lumpus	Y	-
	Scophthalmidae	Scophthalmus	Scophthalmus aquosus	Y	Y
	Paralichthyidae	Paralichthys	Paralichthys dentatus	Y	-
	Paralichthyidae	Paralichthys	-	Y	-
	Paralichthyidae	Hippoglossina	Hippoglossina oblonga	Y	Y
Pleuronectiformes	Cyclopsettidae	Etropus	Etropus microstomus	Y	-
	Pleuronectidae	Hippoglossus	Hippoglossus hippoglossus	Y	-
	Pleuronectidae	-	-	Y	-
	Bothidae	Bothus	-	Y	-
	Cyclopsettidae	Citharichthys	Citharichthys arctifrons	-	Y
	Pleuronectidae	Limanda	Limanda ferruginae	-	Y

	-	-	-	-	Y
	Rajidae	Leucoraja	Leucoraja erinacea	Y	-
Rajiformes	Rajidae	-	-	Y	-
	-	-	-	-	Y
Scombriformes	Stromateidae	Peprilus	Peprilus triacanthus	Y	-
Spariformes	Sparidae	Stenotomus	Stenotomus chrysops	Y	Y
Syngnathiformes	Syngnathidae	Syngnathus	Syngnathus fuscus	Y	-
Tetraodontiformes	Tetraodontidae	Sphoeroides	Sphoeroides spengleri	Y	-
Uranoscopiformes	Uranoscopidae	Astroscopus	Astroscopus guttatus	Y	-
Scorpaeniformes	Sebastidae	Sebastes	-	-	Y
Cephalopods	-	-	-	-	Y
Crustaceans	-	-	-	-	Y
Unidentified fish	-	-	-	-	Y

Table 2.5 Sample name, year collected, season collected, and which method prey was identified from for 112 scat samples. A "1" indicates prey was found from that method and "0" indicates that prey was not found from that method. If no prey was found from either method, a "1" was given in the "No Prey" column. DNA = DNA metabarcoding, HP = prey hard parts.

Sample	Year	Season	DNA	HP	No Prey
GP03nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP04nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP05nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP06nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP07nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP08nov17	2017	Autumn	1	0	0
GP09nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP10nov17	2017	Autumn	0	1	0
GP11nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP12nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP13nov17	2017	Autumn	0	0	1
GP14nov17	2017	Autumn	1	0	0
GP15nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP16nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP17nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP17nov21	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP19nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP20nov17	2017	Autumn	1	1	0
GP01jan18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP02jan18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP03jan18	2018	Winter	0	1	0
GP04jan18	2018	Winter	1	1	0
GP05 jan18	2018	Winter	0	1	0
GP05jan18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP06jan18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP01feb18	2018	Winter	1	1	0
GP02feb18	2018	Winter	1	1	0
GP03feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP04feb18	2018	Winter	1	1	0
GP05feb18	2018	Winter	1	1	0
GP06feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP07feb18	2018	Winter	1	1	0
GP08feb18	2018	Winter	1	1	0
GP09feb18	2018	Winter	0	1	0
GP10feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP11feb18	2018	Winter	1	1	0
GP12 feb18	2018	Winter	0	1	0

GP12feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP13feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP14feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP15feb18	2018	Winter	1	1	0
GP16 feb18	2018	Winter	0	1	0
GP16feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP17feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP18feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP19feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP20feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP21feb18	2018	Winter	1	0	0
GP05 apr18	2018	Spring	0	1	0
GP06apr18	2018	Spring	1	0	0
GP07apr18	2018	Spring	0	0	1
GP08apr18	2018	Spring	1	1	0
GP09apr18	2018	Spring	1	1	0
GP10apr18	2018	Spring	0	0	1
GP11apr18	2018	Spring	1	0	0
GP12apr18	2018	Spring	1	1	0
GP13apr18	2018	Spring	1	1	0
GP14apr18	2018	Spring	1	1	0
GP18nov17	2018	Autumn	1	0	0
GP01nov21	2021	Autumn	0	0	1
GP02nov21	2021	Autumn	1	1	0
GP03nov21	2021	Autumn	1	1	0
GP04nov21	2021	Autumn	1	1	0
GP06nov21	2021	Autumn	1	1	0
GP07nov21	2021	Autumn	1	1	0
GP08nov21	2021	Autumn	0	1	0
GP11nov21	2021	Autumn	1	1	0
GP12 nov21	2021	Autumn	0	1	0
GP12nov21	2021	Autumn	1	0	0
GP13nov21	2021	Autumn	1	1	0
GP14nov21	2021	Autumn	1	1	0
GP15nov21	2021	Autumn	1	1	0
GP16 nov21	2021	Autumn	0	1	0
GP16nov21	2021	Autumn	1	0	0
GP01apr22	2022	Spring	1	0	0
GP02apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP03apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP04apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP05apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP06apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0

GP07apr22	2022	Spring	0	1	0
GP08apr22	2022	Spring	1	0	0
GP09apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP10apr22	2022	Spring	1	0	0
GP11apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP12apr22	2022	Spring	1	0	0
GP13apr22	2022	Spring	1	0	0
GP14apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP15apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP16 apr22	2022	Spring	0	1	0
GP16apr22	2022	Spring	1	0	0
GP17apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP18apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP19apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP20apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP33apr22	2022	Spring	1	0	0
GP40apr22	2022	Spring	1	0	0
GP50apr22	2022	Spring	1	1	0
GP01jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP02jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP03 jun22	2022	Summer	0	1	0
GP03jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP04jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP05jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP12 jun22	2022	Summer	0	1	0
GP14jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP17jun22	2022	Summer	1	1	0
GP18jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP19jun22	2022	Summer	1	1	0
GP20jun22	2022	Summer	1	1	0
GP21jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP23jun22	2022	Summer	1	1	0
GP24jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP25jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP26jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP27jun22	2022	Summer	1	1	0
GP30jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP31jun22	2022	Summer	1	0	0
GP32jun22	2022	Summer	1	1	0

Scientific Name	Common Name	DNA	HP
Somateria mollissima	common eider	8.04	-
Anse	riformes	8.04	-
Alosa sp.	river herring	71.43	-
Brevoortia tyrannus	Atlantic menhaden	68.75	-
Clupea harengus	Atlantic herring	46.43	-
Sardina pilchardus	sardine	0.89	-
Clupeiformes			-
Gadus morhua	Atlantic cod	78.57	2.68
Urophycis sp.	Phycid hakes (red/white/spotted hake)	7.14	9.82
Merluccius bilinearis	silver hake	4.46	3.57
Melanogrammus aeglefinus	haddock	-	2.68
Gad	liformes	81.25	28.57
Tautoga onitis	Tautog	5.36	-
Lab	riformes	5.37	1.79
Ophidion marginatum	striped cusk-eel	42.86	-
Ophi	diiformes	42.86	1.79
Myoxocephalus octodecemspinosus	longhorn sculpin	82.14	-
Ammodytes sp.	sand lance	77.68	21.45
Morone saxatilis	striped bass	74.11	-
Prionotus sp.	sea robin	80.39	-
Centropristis striata	black sea bass	50.89	0.89
Liparis sp.	-	45.54	-
Hemitripterus americanus	sea raven	41.96	-
Scomber scombrus	Atlantic mackerel	7.14	-
Zoarces americanus	ocean pout	7.14	0.89
Pholis gunnellus	rock gunnel	4.90	-
Cyclopterus lumpus	lumpfish	0.89	-
Tautogolabrus adspersus	cunner	0.89	1.79
Perc	ciformes	87.50	23.21
Scophthalmus aquosus	windowpane flounder	76.79	8.04
Paralichthys sp.	sand flounder	62.50	-
Hippoglossina oblonga	American fourspot flounder	59.82	0.89
Etropus microstomus	smallmouth flounder	50.00	-
Hippoglossus hippoglossus	Atlantic halibut	8.93	-
Bothus sp.	-	0.89	-
Citharichthys arctifrons	gulfstream flounder	-	0.89

Table 2.6 Frequency of occurrence (% FO) of prey from gray seal scat samples (n = 112). The methods used were DNA metabarcoding (DNA), prey hard parts (HP). % FO was calculated at the genus and order levels.

Limanda ferruginae	yellowtail flounder	-	0.89
	Pleuronectiformes	83.93	16.96
Leucoraja erinacea	little skate	87.50	-
	Rajiformes	87.50	28.57
Peprilus triacanthus	American butterfish	0.89	-
	Scombriformes	0.89	-
Stenotomus chrysops	scup	36.61	0.89
Spariformes		36.61	0.89
	Lophiiformes	1.79	-
	Mugiliformes	1.79	-
Syngnathus fuscus	northern pipefish	0.89	-
	Syngnathiformes	northern pipefish0.89athiformes0.89	
Sphoeroides spengleri	bandtail puffer	0.89	-
	Tetraodontiformes	0.89	-
Astroscopus guttatus	northern stargazer	23.21	-
	Uranoscopiformes		
Sebastes sp.	Redfish	-	0.89
	-	0.89	
Crustacea			6.25
Cephalopoda			2.68
	Unidentified fish	-	19.64

Table 2.7 Important prey in previous and the current gray seal diet studies. All studies used scat samples to identified prey from prey hard parts or DNA metabarcoding using Primer Set B from Deagle et al (2009). Sample size (n), % Frequency of Occurrence (FO).

Sampling time	Location (n)	Top 5 prey (FO)	Method	Source
July 1991- February 1993	Sable Island, Canada (393)	Sand lance (39.2%), unk flatfish (12%), unk gadoid (7.2%) silver hake (6.8%), Atlantic cod (5.5%)	Hard parts - scat	Bowen & Harrison (1994)
July 1991- February 1998	Sable Island, Canada (1,268)	Sand lance (75%), unk flounder (23.2%), Atlantic cod (24.5%), yellowtail flounder (21.1%), American plaice (18.5%)	Hard parts - scat	Bowen & Harrison (2006)
Winter 2004 – Winter 2008	Muskeget and Monomoy, MA (305)	Skates (24.5%), sand lance (14%), red/white hake (9.4%), windowpane flounder (7.1%), winter flounder (6.9%)	Hard parts - scat	Ampela (2009)
May 2017	Monomoy, MA (74)	Sand lance (97.30%), Atlantic menhaden (60.81%), unk Pleuronectidae (25.68%), Atlantic mackerel (22.97%), northern sea robin (21.62%)	DNA metabarcoding (16S mtDNA) - scat	Flanders et al. (2020)
October 2018 – October 2019	Monomoy, MA (247)	Skates (44.1%), crustaceans (30%), echinoderms (23.1%), sand lance (21.9%), phycid hake (19%)	Hard parts - scat	McCosker et al. (2023)
October 2018 – October 2019	Monomoy, MA (247)	Skates (47.8%), sand lance (28.7%), Atlantic menhaden (26.3%), windowpane flounder (25.1%), unk Pleuronectidae (21.9%)	DNA metabarcoding (16S mtDNA) - scat	McCosker et al. (2023
November 2017 – June 2022	Great Point, Nantucket, MA (112)	Skates (28.57%), sand lance (21.45%), unk fish (19.64%), phycid hake (9.82%), and windowpane flounder (8.04%)	Hard parts - scat	present study
November 2017 – June 2022	Great Point, Nantucket, MA (112)	Skates (87.5%), longhorn sculpin (82.14%), Atlantic cod (78.57%), sand lance (77.68%), and windowpane flounder (76.79%)	DNA metabarcoding (16S mtDNA) - scat	present study

Figures



Figure 2.1 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and seasons (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts. The constrained axes explain 10.27% of the variance.



Figure 2.2 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and years (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts. The constrained axes explain 1.38% of the variance.



Figure 2.3 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and sampling dates (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using DNA Metabarcoding. The constrained axes explain 13.74% of the variance.



Figure 2.4 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and seasons (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using DNA Metabarcoding. The constrained axes explain 3.18% of the variance.



Figure 2.5 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and years (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using DNA Metabarcoding. The constrained axes explain 1.30% of the variance.



Figure 2.6 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of prey types (blue) and sampling dates (red) of 112 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts. The constrained axes explain 7.34% of the variance.


Figure 2.7 Boxplot of prey richness using DNA metabarcoding (DNA) and prey hard parts (HP) (n = 112). * indicates a p-value < 0.05 from a pairwise comparison with a Bonferroni adjustment.

CHAPTER 3

GRAY SEAL (HALICHOERUS GRYPUS) MICROPLASTIC INGESTION AND DIET

3.1 Abstract

Microplastics, which are plastic less than 5 mm², are a major threat to the marine environment. Many marine organisms, including pinnipeds, have been found ingesting microplastics. Their ability to adsorb and leach chemicals also makes them a vector for chemical pollutants and an avenue of exposure to organisms that ingest them. Pinnipeds have been observed indirectly ingesting microplastics through their prey. This chapter assesses the relationship between gray seal (*Halichoerus grypus*) diet and microplastic ingestion, furthering the understanding of bioaccumulation of microplastics. Anthropogenic microparticles were found in 111 out of 112 gray seal scat samples collected from Great Point, Nantucket. The most common type of microparticles were fibers, with the most common polymer, identified using μ FTIR spectroscopy, being polyester. The mean microparticle abundance and concentration was 11.4 ± 9.91 microparticle and 0.886 ± 1.03 microparticles/gram of scat, respectively. When comparing microparticle concentration, type, fiber color, and polymer type to diet, using DNA metabarcoding, our results displayed weak relationships between the variables. However, our methods were not able to determine the abundance of each prey type, making it difficult to draw any real conclusions. More research is needed to determine whether gray seals' diet is influencing their microplastic consumption. Still, it is likely that the microplastics detected in gray seal scat reflect the microplastics in their surrounding environment. Given their role as a sentinel species, gray seals, along with other pinnipeds, offer valuable insights into the distribution and impact of microplastics throughout their range. Future research should continue to utilize these pinnipeds as indicators to further investigate microplastic pollution in marine ecosystems.

3.2 Introduction

Plastic has been mass-produced since the 1940s (Cole et al., 2011). While the use of plastic is convenient due to its light weight and durability its disposal is frequently mismanaged, with over 75% of plastic debris in the ocean originating on land (Thompson et al., 2009). In 2010, 275 million metric tons of mismanaged plastic waste from 192 coastal countries entered the ocean (Jambeck et al., 2015). The United States was the 20th largest contributor, generating 0.28 million metric tons of mismanaged plastic waste (Jambeck et al., 2015). Plastic in the environment can undergo long-term degradation, fragmenting into smaller micro- and nano-sized pieces, which may be ingested or inhaled. (Meaza et al., 2021).

Microplastics are plastic that are less than 5 mm² (Cole et al., 2011). Primary microplastics are plastics that are less than 5 mm² when they are produced (i.e. virgin plastic production pellets and microbeads) (Cole et al., 2011). The breaking down of larger plastics creates secondary microplastics (i.e. fibers and fragments) (Cole et al., 2011). Microplastics typically enter the ocean through river discharge or by weathering of macroplastics that have

already been transported to the ocean (Andrady, 2011). Secondary microplastics are produced from physical, biological, and chemical degradation. Chemical degradation of plastics is typically caused by UV-B radiation from sunlight, and due to lower temperatures and oxygen concentrations in the ocean, plastic degrades slower in seawater than on land (Andrady, 2011). This slow chemical degradation of plastic in seawater is a major contributor to the persistence of microplastics in the marine environment.

Microplastic fragments and fibers have been found in many marine mammal species, with the primary route of exposure being ingestion (Meaza et al., 2021). Ingestion of microplastics can be either direct, for example the organism mistaking microplastics for prey, or indirect through trophic transfer (Besseling et al., 2015; Di Beneditto & Awabdi, 2014; Nelms et al., 2018). The types of microplastics found in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract of a humpback whale suggested that the plastics were directly ingested while filter feeding (Besseling et al., 2015). Pinnipeds are carnivorous and can indirectly ingest microplastics through their prey (Nelms et al., 2018).

Ingestion of microplastics can result in the uptake of pollutants and trace metals by marine organisms (Thompson et al., 2009). Toxic additives that are used during plastic production may leach out as the plastic fragments (Andrady, 2011). Additionally, chemical pollutants in the environment can adsorb to the surface of microplastics (Chen et al., 2019). In fact, hydrophobic organic contaminants are more likely to attach to the pores of plastics than to sediments on the ocean floor (Teuten et al., 2009). The effects of pollutant exposure via microplastics have been studied in smaller fish, bivalves, and sea urchins. Exposure to these chemicals can decrease depuration, reduce embryo development, damage organs, and cause oxidative stress (Hollerova et al., 2023; Nobre et al., 2015; Paul-Pont et al., 2016; Pitt

et al., 2018; Rochman et al., 2013). In addition to being a vector for chemical pollutants, microplastics can accumulate and cause blockages within the digestive system of small marine organisms, leading to starvation (Wright et al., 2013). Their ingestion can also create lesions in internal tissues (Ahrendt et al., 2020; Hamed et al., 2021).

Knowledge of the bioaccumulation of microplastics is critical to determining their impact on an entire ecosystem. Few studies have investigated the relationship between microplastic ingestion and the diet of wild pinnipeds. In both scat and GI tracts from gray seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) in the Northeast Atlantic, microplastic ingestion was positively correlated with Gadoid (cod and hake) consumption (Hernandez-Milian et al., 2019; Nelms, Parry, et al., 2019). In the scat, flatfish (Pleuronectiformes) were negatively correlated with microplastic ingestion (Nelms, Parry, et al., 2019). While reconstructing the diet of phocids in the Northwest Atlantic, microplastics were found in 2 gray seal scat samples (Hudak & Sette, 2019). These seals were feeding on sand lance (Ammodytes sp.), long-fin squid (Doryteuthis pealeii), and skate (Rajiformes) (Hudak & Sette, 2019). However, to fully understand microplastic ingestion by NW Atlantic gray seals, a larger sample size is required. Microplastic consumption was specifically investigated in gray seals on Great Point, Nantucket, with microplastics found in every sample (Hogan, 2022). The objective of this study is to assess the relationship between the diet composition and microplastic consumption of gray seals on Great Point, Nantucket. The results of this study will contribute to the understanding of the transport of microplastics through the local food web.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Scat Collection

A total of 112 gray seal scat samples were collected from Great Point, Nantucket on 7 dates between November 2017 and June 2022 (Table 3.1). The samples were collected at low tide using a slotted metal scoop to minimize contamination from the sand. They were then individually wrapped in aluminum foil and transported in a cooler to a -20°C freezer at the University of Massachusetts, Boston (UMB). A subsample of ~200 mg of each scat was stored in 1 mL of DNA/RNA shield (Zymo Research) and kept in a -20°C freezer until DNA extraction.

3.3.2 Microplastic Isolation

The weight, length, and width of each scat sample was taken. The sample was then transferred to a mason jar and left to thaw for 24 hours. Using a modified method developed by Hogan et al. (personnel communication), 100-500 ml of hot deionized (DI) water was added to the scat and stirred until the mixture was homogeneous. The scat mixture was then poured through a set of sieves sized 4 mm, 2 mm, 1 mm, 500 µm, 250 µm, 125 µm, and 63 µm. DI water was used to push the scat through each sieve. Any material remaining on the sieve was backwashed with DI water into a glass beaker and digested with equal parts 30% hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) resulting in a final concentration of 15% H₂O₂. Each beaker was stirred on a hot plate for \leq 3 hours. If all the organic material was not digested after 3 hours, the beaker was covered with a glass petri dish and placed in an oven at 55°C for up to 10 days. The beaker was checked daily, and once the reaction was complete and the contents were clear, the mixture was poured back through its respective sieve in the sieve stack and backwashed with DI water into a glass jar. The jars were covered with foil and placed in the oven until dry.

After every jar was dried, 150-200 ml of saturated NaCl water (1.16 - 1.18 g/ml) was added to each jar for density separation (Konechnaya et al., 2020). The jars were shaken and left to settle for 24 hours. The next day, the top layer of the saltwater was filtered through a cellulose membrane filter. The funnel was rinsed with 100 ml of DI water and the filter was placed into a labeled petri dish. This process was repeated 2 more times.

Microparticles on the filters were counted using an Olympus SZX12 stereomicroscope with a polarized light. The color and type (fiber, fragment, film, and foam) of each particle was recorded. Microparticles were then picked off the filters and transferred to a glass slide for μ FTIR spectroscopy. An Attenuated Total Reflectance Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (ATR-FTIR) microscope (Smiths IlluminatIR coupled to an Olympus microscope) was used to determine composition of the microparticles. The ATR-FTIR was set to 4 cm⁻¹ resolution, Objective 36×-ATR, full spectral range 650–4000. FTIR spectra were obtained in transmission mode and CO₂ interference was removed for clarity. The spectra were read by an integrated software (Spectral ID) and were then matched to commercial libraries, Sigma Aldrich and Thermo-Fisher Scientific, and/or processed using Open Specy (Cowger et al., 2021). Spectral matches with a confidence greater than 70% were considered as positively identified. A total of 1526 particles were positively identified.

In order to account for contamination, lab and sand blanks were used. Lab blanks were created by pouring 100 ml of boiling DI water through the sieve stack. Each sieve was rinsed with 50 mL of DI water and 20 mL of DI water was backwashed into a mason jar. The backwash was poured back through its respective sieve, and then another 15 ml was

backwashed into the mason jars. Three 300g sand samples were collected during each sampling date. Both blank types were not digested with H₂O₂, however they did undergo density separation, and microparticles were counted using the same methods as the scat samples.

3.3.3 Diet

A subsample of ~200 mg of each scat was stored in 1 mL of DNA/RNA shield (Zymo Research) and kept in a -20°C freezer until DNA extraction. DNA was extracted using the *Quick*-DNA/RNATM Magbead kit (Zymo Research). Samples were incubated in 25 μ l of Proteinase K at room temperature for 24 hours. Sample placement was randomized across the 96-well plates, and 1 extraction blank per plate (2 total) were used to test for contamination.

PCR was performed in duplicate to amplify the mtDNA 16S gene. Primer set B from Deagle et al (2009) (Chord_16S_F_TagA 5'- ATG CGA GAA GAC CCT RTG GAG CT -3', Chord_16S_R_Short 5'- CCT NGG TCG CCC CAA C -3') and a gray seal blocking primer designed by Flanders et al (2020) (Grayseal-block 5'- ATG GAG CTT TAA TTA ACT AAC TCA ACA GAA CAA /3SpC3/ -3') were used to amplify chordate DNA while reducing the amount of gray seal sequences. Forward and reverse primers were tagmented with Nextera adapter sequences (forward 5'- TCG TCG GCA GCG TCA GAT GTG TAT AAG AGA CAG, reverse 5'- GTC TCG TGG GCT CGG AGA TGT GTA TAA GAG ACA G). PCR was done following the methods from Flanders et al (2020). Samples and blanks were amplified using Molecular Grade Water (12.8µl), 5x MyTaq Reaction Buffer (5µl), MyTaq DNA Polymerase (0.2µl), 10µM forward primer (2µl), 10µM reverse primer (2µl), 100µM gray seal blocking primer (2µl), and template DNA (1µl) for a total of 25µl per well. Cycling conditions are described in Table 3.2. After thermocycling, PCR reactions were tested for amplification using a 1.6% agarose gel.

A second PCR was done to attach a unique combination of Nextera XT indices to each sample. Duplicates were pooled and PCR was done using Index 1 (i7) adapters (5µl), Index 2 (i5) adapters, Azura 2x Taq Mix (15µl), and PCR product (25µl) for a total of 50µl per well. Cycling conditions are described in Table 3.3. PCR reactions were again tested for amplification using a 1.6% agarose gel.

PCR products were then cleaned and normalized using the SequalPrep Normalization Plate Kit. All samples were then pooled for sequencing. The library was sequenced on an Illumina MiSeq using a MiSeq Reagent Kit v2 (300-cycles) with 2 x 250 bp chemistry at UMass Boston.

Bioinformatics were done using Qiime2 (Bolyen et al., 2019). The sequences were provided in a demultiplexed format, so reads were entered into Qiime2 as SampleData[PairedEEndSequencesWithQuality] using a manifest file. Next, the data was visualized and inspected for quality. Reads were trimmed where the median quality score dropped below 30. In this case, all bases had a median quality score above 30, so the reads were not trimmed. The data was then denoised using dada2. Taxonomy was assigned via a command-line BLAST using the NCBI non-redundant database. All OTUs that were returned as bacteria or had 2 or less reads were removed. The remaining taxa were inspected and filtered for suspected prey items in the Gulf of Maine (McCosker et al., 2023).

Prey hard parts were also isolated and identified using the methods described in Chapter 2. The measure of prey abundance used was minimum number of individuals (MNI),

which was determined from the number of otoliths of each prey type. Since bony fishes have 2 otoliths each, MNI was calculated as:

$$MNI = \frac{\# otoliths}{2}$$

rounded to the nearest whole number

3.3.4 Data Analysis

Environmental and lab contamination was accounted for by subtracting the amount of microparticles in sand and lab blanks from their respective sample. Microparticles were subtracted by color and type for accuracy. Microparticle counts for each sample were standardized by weight in order to be statistically compared. Presence of prey was measured using frequency of occurrence (FO), calculated as:

$$FO_i = \frac{n_i}{n}$$
 or $\% FO_i = \frac{n_i}{n} \times 100$

Where: n = total number of samples $n_i = \text{total number of samples with prey type } i$

All statistical analyses were done in R Version 2023.06.1+524. Microparticle concentrations, types, fiber colors, and polymer composition by FTIR spectroscopy were visually analyzed using the 'ggplot2' package. Models with the 'glm' function in the package 'car' were created to compare scat weight, microplastic abundance, and concentration between sampling dates. Diet and total microparticle concentration were analyzed through generalized linear models as well. To assess the relationship between diet and microparticle types, fiber colors, and polymer composition, redundancy analyses (RDA) were performed using the 'rda' function. Prey were classified and grouped at the family taxonomic level. Microplastic fiber colors were analyzed by creating a concentration matrix. Polymer composition was analyzed by creating a matrix based on percent composition. Microparticle

types and diet were analyzed by creating presence/absence matrices. Before creating PCAs and RDAs, non-binary matrices were Hellinger transformed using the 'decostand' function. A permutational multivariate ANOVA (PERMANOVA) was done using the 'adonis2' function to analyze the significance of season in contributing to prey diversity. Any significant results were further analyzed using the 'simper' function.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Microplastics

Microparticles were found in 99.1% of samples (111/112). The average number of microparticles per scat sample was 11.4 ± 9.91 , with a range of 0 to 60 MP/sample. The minimum concentration of all microparticles was 0 microparticles /gram of scat (MP/g), the maximum was 2.56 MP/g, and the mean was 0.886 ± 1.03 MP/g (Table 3.1). Mean scat weight was not different between sampling dates (p > 0.05; Figure 3.1). Mean microparticle abundance was significantly different between sampling dates (p = 0.004), with April 2018 and April 2022 being greater than February 2018 (Figure 3.2). Additionally, mean microparticle concentration was significantly different between sampling dates (p = 0.013). January 2018 had a greater mean microparticle concentration than November 2017, February 2018, November 2021, and April 2022 (Figure 3.3).

The most common type of microparticle found in the scat were fibers (95.45%; Figure 3.4). Fibers also had the highest percent composition during every sampling date (Table 3.4, Figure 3.5a). Other less common microparticle types were knotted fibers (2.9 %), fragments (1.18%), foam (0.31%), and films (0.16%) (Figure 3.4). Fibers were found in every sample except for 1 from November 2021, which did not contain any microparticles (Figure 3.5b). Knotted fibers were found in 8 samples from November 2017, 2 samples from January 2018, 5 samples from February 2018, 4 samples from April 2018, 7 samples from April 2022, and 5 samples from June 2022 (3. 5b). Fragments were found in 3 samples from November 2017, 1 sample from February 2018, 1 sample from April 2018, and 9 samples from April 2022 (3. 5b). Foam was found in 4 samples from April 2018 (Figure 3.5b). Color film was found in 1 sample from November 2021 and 1 sample from June 2022 (Figure 3.5b).

Synthetic (petroleum-based) and cellulose-based anthropogenic microparticles were detected using FTIR spectroscopy. Synthetic, or petroleum-based, microplastics made up 20.5% of the microparticles and were found in 96% of samples (Figure 3.6). Nine plastic polymer types were detected in 99 samples: polyester (PET), nylon (PA), polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE), polypropylene (PP), polyethylene (PE), acrylic, polyvinylchloride (PVC), and polystyrene (PS). The most common polymers were PET (58.12%), PA (28.57%), and PTFE (6.49%) (Figure 3.7). Polyester was the most common polymer in every sample date, followed by nylon (Table 3.5, Figure 3.8). PTFE was most common in April 2018, followed by April 2022 (Table 3.5, Figure 3.8). February 2018 and April 2018 had the greatest percent composition of PE (Table 3.5, Figure 3.8). PVC and polystyrene were only identified in April 2022 and February 2018, respectively (Table 3.5, Figure 3.8).

Eight fiber colors were found throughout the 111 samples with microparticles. Those colors were black, spotted, blue, red, clear, purple, green, and yellow. Spotted fibers were

any fiber with a distinct pattern of being clear and another color. The most common fiber colors were black (38.31%), spotted (16.71%), red (15.82%), and blue (15.26%) (Figure 3.9). *3.4.2 Microplastics and Diet*

Liparidae was the only prey family where mean microparticle concentration differed significantly by its presence. Samples with Liparidae had a greater mean microparticle concentration than samples without (Figure 3.10). The mean microparticle concentration of samples with Liparidae was 0.332 ± 0.447 , while the mean microparticle concentration of samples without Liparidae was 0.193 ± 0.370 . The frequency of occurrence of Liparidae was 45.54% (Table 3.6).

Samples with Cyclopsettidae (p = 0.005) and Pholidae (p = 0.009) had significantly different microparticle type compositions than other prey types. Knots and fragments contributed 87.5% and 82.9% to the difference of Cyclopsettidae's and Pholidae's microplastic type composition, respectively. Pholidae had a very strong positive relationship with knots due to the angle between the two vectors being much less than 90° (Figure 3.11). Pholidae had a slightly positive relationship with fragments since the angle between the two was closer to 90° (Figure 3.11). Cyclopsettidae also had positive relationships with both knots and fragments (Figure 3.11). Cyclopsettidae and Pholidae had FOs of 50% and 4.46%, respectively (Table 3.6).

Samples with Anatidae (p = 0.036), Lophiidae (p = 0.048), Phycidae (p = 0.039), Serranidae (p = 0.015), Tetraodontidae (p = 0.042), and Uranoscopidae (p = 0.018) had a significantly different composition of fiber colors than other prey types. The colors that contributed the most to these differences were black, blue, spotted, red, and purple (Table 3.7) Anatidae and Uranoscopidae had strong negative relationships with black fibers, where Lophiidae and Phycidae had positive correlations with black fibers (Figure 3.12). Serranidae was negatively correlated with red fibers and Tetraodontidae had a negative relationship with spotted fibers (Figure 3.12).

There were no prey families that had a significantly different composition of plastic polymers (p > 0.05). Additionally, prey families were grouped by their diet (Table 3.6). Prey diet had no significant effect on microparticle concentration, microparticle type, fiber color, or plastic polymer composition (p > 0.05). The 10 prey families with the highest frequency of occurrence for each sample date are listed in Table 3.8. Rajidae, Gadidae, Paralichthyidae, Cottidae, Clupeidae, Pleuronectidae, Scophthalmidae, Ammodytidae, and Moronidae were within the top 10 during every sampling date (Table 3.8). Triglidae was in the top 10 in 6 out of 7 dates, Serranidae in 2, and Cyclopsettidae and Agonidae in 1 (Table 3.8).

Prey hard parts (e.g. otoliths, vertebrae, squid beaks, etc.) were identified microscopically (Chapter 2). Since DNA metabarcoding cannot quantify prey abundance, otoliths were used to estimate the relationship between prey abundance, calculated as minimum number of individuals (MNI) and microparticle concentration. While there was a slight positive trend in Pleuronectiformes MNI and microparticle concentration (Figure 3.13), there were no significant relationships between Gadiformes (Figure 3.14), Perciformes (Figure 3.15), and Pleuronectiformes MNI and microparticle concentration (p > 0.05).

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Microplastics in gray seals

Almost all scat samples in this study contained microparticles (99.1%), with 96% of samples containing at least 1 synthetic microplastic, indicating gray seals around Great Point,

Nantucket are frequently exposed to microplastics. The units used to report microplastic ingestion in gray seals is not consistent across studies, thus we reported both mean abundance and concentration of microparticles in scat. In the present study, the average abundance was 11.4 ± 9.91 MP/scat. This is slightly different from other gray seal microplastic studies on the Northeast Atlantic population. Gray seals bycaught off the coast of Ireland averaged 27.9 MP/seal, and a preliminary study using scat from Wales had a range of 1 to 5 MP/scat (Hernandez-Milian et al., 2019; Nelms, Parry, et al., 2019). Philipp et al (2020) assessed microplastics in scat from both gray and harbor seals in German waters, which had an average of 6 fibers/scat and 13.3 fragments/scat. The current study found that the mean microparticle concentration was 0.89 ± 1.03 MP/g. Gray seal scat subsamples from the North Sea had a very similar estimated concentration of 0.81 MP/g, and a smaller sample size of scat collected from Great Point had a lower mean concentration of 0.43 MP/g (Desclos-Dukes et al., 2022; Hogan, 2022).

The majority of microparticles recovered were fibers (95.45%), with knots, fragments, films, and foam being less common (4.55%). This is consistent with most other studies, where fibers are most common (Desclos-Dukes et al., 2022; Hernandez-Milian et al., 2019; Hogan, 2022; Nelms, Parry, et al., 2019). In contrast, harbor and gray seal scat from Germany had more fragments than fibers (Philipp et al., 2020). Philipp et al. 2020 only assessed particles greater than 100µm which may exclude smaller microfibers, whereas the current study was able to extract particles a small as 63µm. Microplastic isolation methods are not consistent between studies. Nelms et al. (2019), Philipp et al. (2020), and Desclos-Dukes et al. (2022) all used enzymatic digestion to remove organic matter, whereas Hernandez-Milian et al. (2019) used 10% KOH and Hogan (2022) used 15% H₂O₂.

Black, spotted, red, and blue were the most common fiber colors found the scat. This is similar to other studies which reported black, blue, red, clear, and gray as common fiber colors (Desclos-Dukes et al., 2022; Hogan, 2022; Nelms, Parry, et al., 2019). Polyester (58.12%) and nylon (28.57%) were the most abundant plastic polymers detected using µFTIR spectroscopy. In Philipp et al (2020), the most common polymers were polyethylene, ethylene-vinyl-acetate, nylon, and polypropylene. Additionally, Hudak and Sette (2019) opportunistically identified 2 microparticles in gray seal scat from Cape Cod, Massachusetts as cellophane and EPDM rubber.

3.5.2 Sources of marine microplastics

The most common type of microplastic found in the scat was polyester (Figure 3.7). Polyester microfibers are typically shed from clothing and enter the ocean through wastewater and river discharge (Kutralam-Muniasamy et al., 2020). A 6 kg wash of polyester clothing has been estimated to release 500,000 microfibers (Napper & Thompson, 2016). Additionally, polyester made up 73% of synthetic fibers in near-surface Arctic water samples (Ross et al., 2021). Many of these fibers were classified as new/unweathered, providing evidence of the transport of microfibers from textiles, laundry, and wastewater to remote areas (Ross et al., 2021). Another less common source of polyester fibers are maritime ropes and nets (Corniuk et al., 2023).

The second most abundant type of plastic identified in this study was nylon, which fishing line and nets are commonly made of (Battisti et al., 2019; Corniuk et al., 2023; Vitale et al., 2023; Weißbach et al., 2022). Fishing gear is also frequently made of polyethylene and polypropylene which were recovered in the scat (Corniuk et al., 2023; Vitale et al., 2023; Weißbach et al., 2022). PTFE made up 6.5% of µFTIR-tested microplastics (Figure 3.7) and

is used as a low-friction coating on many marine instruments (Argos Surface Technologies, 2024). Its weather, chemical, and saltwater resistant coating makes it ideal to use in the marine environment (Argos Surface Technologies, 2024).

3.5.3 Microplastics and gray seal diet

Our results suggest that gray seal diet has a limited effect on the amount and type of microparticles that they consume. Samples with Liparidae (snailfish) had a higher mean microparticle concentration than samples without. However, the standard deviation for each group was greater than the mean, indicating there was high variability in microparticle concentration within samples with and without Liparidae. Additionally, only Cyclopsettidae (smallmouth flounder) and Pholidae (rock gunnel) had significantly different microparticle type distributions than other prey families. Fiber colors had strong relationships with more prey types, with Phycidae (phycid hakes) and Tetraodontidae (bandtail puffer) being positively related to black and purple fibers, and Serranidae (black sea bass) being negatively correlated with red fibers (Figure 3.12). While these results are significant, they only indicate a correlation between the above fish types and certain microparticles. More research is needed to determine whether different fish types are ingesting specific colors and types of microparticle.

The diet analysis method used in this study, DNA metabarcoding, currently only provides qualitative data on the presence or absence of a prey type in a sample. While there was no clear evidence that the presence of certain prey types in the scat influenced microparticle abundance or type, it is not known whether the abundance of these prey types has an effect on gray seal microparticle ingestion. Hard parts can provide limited information on prey abundance due to biases in otolith digestion and recovery (Chapter 2). There were no

significant relationships between prey abundance (MNI) from hard parts and microparticle concentration, however there was a slight positive trend in Pleuronectiform abundance and microparticle concentration (Figure 3.13). Future research should focus on quantifying prey types using DNA metabarcoding to accurately assess the abundance of gray seal prey.

Both April 2018 and April 2022 had unique microplastic and diet results. These sampling dates had the highest microparticle abundance (Figure 3.2) and PTFE percent composition (Figure 3.8). April 2022 was the only sampling date with PVC (Figure 3.8) and had the highest fragment percent composition (Figure 3.5a). Additionally, April 2018 was the only sampling date with foam (Figure 3.5). When looking at the 10 prey families with the highest FO, April 2018 had the lowest FO overall (Table 3.8). April 2022 was the only sampling date with Cyclopsettidae, and April 2018 was one of two sampling dates with Serranidae in their top 10 prey (Table 3.8). Without knowing the abundance of these prey types, it's difficult to distinguish any strong relationships between microparticles and diet in these samples.

The diet analysis of these samples revealed that gray seals on Great Point have a truly generalist diet, with a mean prey richness of 13.1 (Chapter 2). Pelagic fish have been reported consuming more microplastics than demersal fish (Covernton et al., 2022; McGoran et al., 2018; Rummel et al., 2016). We did not see any relationships between gray seal prey's diet and microparticle consumption. However, since there were often combinations of fish with different diets in one sample, these differences would not have been seen. It is important to note that over 50% of the gray seal prey was benthic, indicating that they feed on or near the seafloor (Table 3.6). The majority of the microplastics identified in this study are also denser than seawater (density > 1.03 kg/L), meaning that gray seals are primarily ingesting

microplastics that sink (Andrady, 2011; Grigorescu et al., 2019). PET, PA, PVC, and PS all have densities greater than seawater (Andrady, 2011; Grigorescu et al., 2019). Similarly, PA was the most common type of microplastic ingested by gray seals in the NE Atlantic (Nelms, Parry, et al., 2019). The most commonly produced plastics worldwide are PE and PP, which are less dense than seawater (Andrady, 2011; Bråte et al., 2014; Grigorescu et al., 2019). However, these plastics were found in low quantities in the scat (Table 3.5). This suggests that gray seals' benthic feeding behavior may be correlated with consumption of high density microplastics. Captive gray seals that were fed only mackerel, a pelagic fish, mainly ingested low density plastics like PE (Nelms et al., 2018). More research is needed to determine the density of the microplastics that benthic fish are ingesting.

The primer used in the diet analysis was only able to amplify chordate DNA, excluding any invertebrate prey from all analyses in this study. Invertebrates, notably squid, make up an important part of gray seal diet (Gibson, 2023; McCosker et al., 2020). The prey hard parts data showed invertebrate remains during November 2017, April 2018, April 2022, and June 2022 (Chapter 2). Future research should investigate the relationship between gray seals' entire diet and their ingestion of microplastics.

3.5.4 Microplastics in New England

Previous studies assessing indirect ingestion of microplastics by gray seals used captive seals in a closed system (Nelms et al., 2018). While gray seals do indirectly ingest microplastics through their prey, they can still directly consume microplastics directly from the surrounding environment. It is impossible to determine the route through which the seals were exposed to the microplastics found in the scat samples from the present study. Since our results show that diet may not strongly influence microparticle ingestion, it is plausible that the microparticle found in the scat are representative of microparticles in the surrounding environment. Although microparticles in the water around Great Point specifically have not been assessed, a baseline of microparticles in sand and water on and around the entire island of Nantucket was collected (Hogan, 2022). Fibers made up 98% of the microparticles in water samples, similar to our results where 95.45% of the microparticles were fibers (Hogan, 2022).

Microplastic studies on pinnipeds in Mexico and South America found that animals from oceanic rookeries ingested more microplastics than those from coastal rookeries (Ortega-Borchardt et al., 2023a; Perez-Venegas et al., 2020). Gray seals have breeding and haul-out sites along a large portion of the east coast of North America (den Heyer et al., 2021; Wood et al., 2020). Many of the sites in southern New England are closer to urban areas than the sites in Maine and Canada (den Heyer et al., 2021; Wood et al., 2020). Sampling gray seal scat at various sites in the Gulf of Maine may provide information on the differences in microplastic abundance and make-up at different locations.

3.5.5 Conclusions

The findings of this study highlight the presence of microplastics, particularly fibers, in the diets of gray seals inhabiting the area surrounding Great Point, Nantucket. While indirect ingestion through prey is possible, our results reveal minimal correlation between the microplastics ingested by seals and the type of prey they consumed. However, our methods were not able to determine the abundance of each prey type, making it difficult to draw any real conclusions. More research is needed to determine whether gray seals' diet is influencing their microplastic consumption. Still, it's likely that the microplastics detected in gray seal

scat reflect the microplastics in their surrounding environment. Given their role as a sentinel species, gray seals, along with other pinnipeds, offer valuable insights into the distribution and impact of microplastics throughout their range. Future research should continue to utilize these pinnipeds as indicators to further investigate microplastic pollution in marine ecosystems.

Tables

_	Sample	Weig	ght (g)	N Abur	/IP ndance	MP Concer	ntrations (MP/g)
Date	Size	$Avg \pm sd$	Range	$\begin{array}{l} Avg \\ \pm \ sd \end{array}$	Range	$Avg\pm sd$	Range
11/5/17	18	218± 246	21 - 956	9.71 ± 8.19	1-28	$\begin{array}{c} 0.190 \pm \\ 0.297 \end{array}$	0.003 - 0.892
1/15/18	6	206 ± 257	5.5 - 530	14.2 ± 9.70	0-26	$\begin{array}{c} 0.886 \pm \\ 1.03 \end{array}$	0.001 - 2.56
2/9/18	21	124 ± 111	6-420	6± 3.92	1 – 14	$\begin{array}{c} 0.184 \pm \\ 0.489 \end{array}$	0.003 - 2.30
4/20/18	10	91.2 ± 61.3	22 - 211	20.2 ± 17.6	4-60	$\begin{array}{c} 0.360 \pm \\ 0.367 \end{array}$	0.038 - 1.14
11/7/21	14	185 ± 173	10 - 500	$9.57 \\ \pm \\ 6.95$	0-26	$\begin{array}{c} 0.172 \pm \\ 0.232 \end{array}$	0 - 0.775
4/9/22	23	$\begin{array}{c} 125 \pm \\ 109 \end{array}$	14 – 434	13.4 ± 7.76	2-29	0.221 ± 0.267	0.012 - 1.27
6/7/22	20	63.3 ± 33.1	14 - 150	12.8 ± 11.6	1-50	0.251 ± 0.218	0.003 - 0.845
Total	112	138± 154	5.5 - 956	11.4 ± 9.91	0-60	$\begin{array}{c} 0.256 \pm \\ 0.411 \end{array}$	0-2.56

Table 3.1 Gray seal scat sample size and average (Avg), standard deviation (sd), and range of scat weights (grams), microparticle (MP) abundance, and microparticle concentrations (MP Abundance/scat weight) by sample date, collected from Great Point, Nantucket.

Table 3.2 PCR conditions for the amplification of the 16S mtDNA gene using primer set B from Deagle et al (2009) and a gray seal blocking primer from Flanders et al (2020).

nom Deagle et al (2009) allu a gla	ly sear blocking primer	110111 1 Tanuers et al (2020).
Temperature (°C)	Time	Number of Cycles
95	3 min.	x1
95	30 sec.	
57	30 sec.	x35
72	30 sec.	
72	10 min.	x1
4	Continuous	Continuous Until Removed

Table 3.3 PCR conditions for the attachment of Nextera XT i7 and i5 adapters.

Temperature (°C)	Time	Number of Cycles
72	3 min.	1
95	30 sec.	XI
95	10 sec.	
55	30 sec.	x12
72	30 sec.	
72	5 min.	x1
10	Continuous	Continuous Until Removed

Table 3.4 Microparticle type % composition by sampling date.

Date	Fibers	Color Film	Foam	Fragments	Knots
11/5/17	93.9	0	0	1.8	4.2
1/15/18	97.6	0	0	0	2.4
2/9/18	94.4	0	0	0.8	4.8
4/20/18	95.0	0	2.0	0.5	2.5
11/7/21	97.8	0.7	0	0	1.5
4/9/22	93.9	0	0	3.2	2.9
6/7/22	97.3	0.4	0	0	2.4

Date	Polyester	Nylon	PTFE	Polystyrene	РР	PE	Polyacrylic	PVC
 11/5/17	65.8	28.9	2.6	0	4.8	0	0	0
1/15/18	66.7	23.8	4.8	0	4.8	0	0	0
2/9/18	68.1	18.8	1.4	1.4	5.8	4.3	0	0
4/20/18	47.6	23.8	23.8	0	0	4.8	0	0
11/7/21	64.3	31.0	0	0	0	2.4	2.4	0
4/9/22	47.2	27.8	16.7	0	2.8	2.8	0	2.8
 6/7/22	49.4	39.2	7.6	0	2.5	0	1.3	0

Table 3.5 FTIR % composition by sampling date.

Diet	Family	% FO
	Rajidae	87.50
	Cottidae	82.14
	Scophthalmidae	76.79
	Triglidae	72.32
	Serranidae	51.79
	Cyclopsettidae	50.00
	Liparidae	45.54
D 41	Ophidiidae	42.86
Benthivore	Agonidae	41.96
	Sparidae	36.61
	Uranoscopidae	23.21
	Zoarcidae	7.14
	Labridae	6.25
	Pholidae	4.46
	Cyclopteridae	0.89
	Tetraodontidae	0.89
	Pleuronectidae	79.46
	Paralichthyidae	75.89
Dissivers	Moronidae	74.11
Piscivore	Anatidae	8.04
	Lophiidae	1.79
	Bothidae	0.89
	Clupeidae	79.46
	Ammodytidae	77.68
Dlanktivora	Scombridae	7.14
FIAIIKUVOIE	Mugilidae	1.79
	Stromatidae	0.89
	Syngnathidae	0.89
Dlanktivora/Danthivera	Gadidae	80.36
	Phycidae	7.14

Table 3.6 Diet and percent frequency occurrence (%FO) of prey families identified in 112 seal scat samples from DNA metabarcoding.

Table 3.7 Prey families with significantly different microparticle fiber (MFP) color composition and the MFP colors that strongly contributed to these differences from a SIMPER analysis.

Family	MFP colors
Anatidae	Black, blue, spotted, red
Lophiidae	Red, spotted, purple, black
Phycidae	Black, red, spotted, blue
Serranidae	Black, red, spotted, blue
Tetraodontidae	Purple, black, red, spotted
Uranoscopidae	Black, spotted, red, blue

e.													
	% FO	95	95	90	60	90	85	85	85	80	80		
June 2022	Family	Cottidae	Rajidae	Pleuronectidae	Scophthalmidae	Ammodytidae	Triglidae	Clupeidae	Moronidae	Gadidae	Paralichthyidae		
	% FO	91.3	86.96	86.96	82.61	78.26	78.26	78.26	78.26	73.91	73.91	73.91	
April 2022	Family	Rajidae	Gadidae	Paralichthyidae	Triglidae	Cottidae	Clupeidae	Pleuronectidae	Scophthalmidae	Ammodytidae	Moronodiae	Cyclopsettidae	
21	% FO	85.71	85.71	78.57	78.57	78.57	78.57	78.57	78.57	71.43	71.43		
November 20	Family	Rajidae	Cottidae	Clupeidae	Gadidae	Pleuronectidae	Ammodytidae	Scophthalmidae	Triglidae	Paralichthyidae	Moronidae		
	% FO	70	60	60	60	50	50	50	40	40	40		
April 2018	Family	Rajidae	Cottidae	Clupeidae	Gadidae	Pleuronectidae	Ammodytidae	Serranidae	Scophthalmida	Paralichthyida	Moronidae		
8	% FO	95.24	90.48	85.71	85.71	85.71	80.95	76.19	76.19	71.43	61.9		
February 2018	Family	Rajidae	Cottidae	Clupeidae	Gadidae	Pleuronectidae	Ammodytidae	Scophthalmidae	Paralichthyidae	Moronidae	Triglidae		

Table 3.8 Top 10 prey families with the highest % frequency of occurrence (FO) by sample date.

	November 20	17	January 2018	8
	Family	% FO	Family	% FO
1	Moronidae	88.89	Cottidae	83.33
7	Rajidae	83.33	Rajidae	66.67
б	Pleuronectidae	83.33	Gadidae	66.67
4	Scophthalmidae	83.33	Paralichthyidae	66.67
5	Ammodytidae	83.33	Triglidae	66.67
9	Clupeidae	83.33	Clupeidae	66.67
7	Gadidae	83.33	Pleuronectidae	66.67
8	Paralichthyidae	83.33	Scophthalmidae	66.67
6	Triglidae	77.78	Amnodytidae	66.67
10	Cottidae	72.22	Moronidae	66.67
11			Agonidae	66.67
12			Serranidae	66.67

Figures



Figure 3.1 Scat weight by sample date. November 2017 (n = 18), January 2018 (n = 6), February 2018 (n = 21), April 2018 (n = 10), November 2021 (n = 14), April 2022 (n = 23), June 2022 (n = 20). Boxplot shows median, interquartile ranges, and outlier. Points represent the mean, * indicates a p-value < 0.05 from a pairwise comparison.



Figure 3.2 Microparticle abundance by sample date. November 2017 (n = 18), January 2018 (n = 6), February 2018 (n = 21), April 2018 (n = 10), November 2021 (n = 14), April 2022 (n = 23), June 2022 (n = 20). Boxplot shows median, interquartile ranges, and outlier. Points represent the mean, * indicates a p-value < 0.05 from a pairwise comparison.



Figure 3.3 Total microparticle concentration by sample date. November 2017 (n = 18), January 2018 (n = 6), February 2018 (n = 21), April 2018 (n = 10), November 2021 (n = 14), April 2022 (n = 23), June 2022 (n = 20). Boxplot shows median, interquartile ranges, and outlier. Points represent the mean, * indicates a p-value < 0.05 from a pairwise comparison.



Figure 3.4 Distribution of microparticle types in scat samples by abundance (n = 112).



Figure 3.5 (a) Percent composition of microparticle types by sample date. **(b)** Percent frequency of occurrence (FO) of microparticle types by sample date. November 2017 (n = 18), January 2018 (n = 6), February 2018 (n = 21), April 2018 (n = 10), November 2021 (n = 14), April 2022 (n = 23), June 2022 (n = 20).



Figure 3.6 Percent composition of microparticles in scat samples determined by FTIR spectroscopy (n = 99).



Figure 3.7 Percent composition of synthetic polymers in scat samples determined by FTIR spectroscopy (n = 99).



Figure 3.8 Percent composition of synthetic polymers by sample date. November 2017 (n = 18), January 2018 (n = 6), February 2018 (n = 21), April 2018 (n = 10), November 2021 (n = 14), April 2022 (n = 23), June 2022 (n = 20).


Figure 3.9 Distribution of microparticle fiber colors in scat samples by abundance (n = 112).



Figure 3.10 Boxplot of total microparticle concentration for samples with (1) and without (0) Liparidae DNA (n = 112). Boxplot shows median, interquartile ranges, and outlier. Points represent the mean, * indicates a p-value < 0.05 from a pairwise comparison.



Figure 3.11 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of microparticle types (blue) and prey types (red) of 100 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts. The constrained axes explain 29.2% of the variance. RDA 1 explains 58.8% of the constrained variance and RDA2 explains 29.2% of the constrained variance.



Figure 3.12 Redundancy Analysis (RDA) of microparticle fiber colors (blue) and prey types (red) of 100 gray seal scat samples using prey hard parts. The constrained axes explain 36% of the variance. RDA 1 explains 35.0% of the constrained variance and RDA2 explains 21.9% of the constrained variance.



Figure 3.13 Pleuronectiformes abundance in minimum number of individuals (MNI) by total microparticle concentration (MP/g). Each point represents an individual sample. The blue line is a linear regression with the formula $log(y + 1) \sim x$, and a confidence interval of 0.95 shown in gray.



Figure 3.14 Gadiformes abundance in minimum number of individuals (MNI) by total microparticle concentration (MP/g). Each point represents an individual sample. The blue line is a linear regression with the formula $\log(y + 1) \sim x$, and a confidence interval of 0.95 shown in gray.



Figure 3.15 Perciformes abundance in minimum number of individuals (MNI) by total microparticle concentration (MP/g). Each point represents an individual sample. The blue line is a linear regression with the formula $log(y + 1) \sim x$, and a confidence interval of 0.95 shown in gray.

REFERENCE LIST

- Ahrendt, C., Perez-Venegas, D. J., Urbina, M., Gonzalez, C., Echeveste, P., Aldana, M., Pulgar, J., & Galbán-Malagón, C. (2020). Microplastic ingestion cause intestinal lesions in the intertidal fish Girella laevifrons. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 151, 110795. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110795
- Akmajian, A., Calambokidis, J., Huggins, J. L., & Lambourn, D. (2014). Age, region, and temporal patterns of trace elements measured in stranded harbor seals (Phoca vitulina richardii) from Washington inland waters. *Northwestern Naturalist*, 95(2), 83–91. https://doi.org/10.1898/NWN13-26.1
- Ampela, K. (2009). The diet and foraging ecology of gray seals (Halichoerus grypus) in United States waters. In *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*. https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/diet-foraging-ecology-gray-seals-ihalichoerus/docview/304861673/se-2?accountid=28932
- Andrady, A. L. (2011). Microplastics in the marine environment. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(8), 1596–1605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.05.030
- Anthony, S. J., St. Leger, J. A., Pugliares, K., Ip, H. S., Chan, J. M., Carpenter, Z. W., Navarrete-Macias, I., Sanchez-Leon, M., Saliki, J. T., Pedersen, J., Karesh, W., Daszak, P., Rabadan, R., Rowles, T., & Lipkin, W. I. (2012). Emergence of fatal avian influenza in New England harbor seals. *MBio*, 3(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00166-12
- Argos Surface Technologies. (2024). *Excellence in marine corrosion protection: Argos ST protects springs with PTFE coatings*. https://www.argos-st.com/en/news/ptfe-coatings-excellence-anticorrosion-marine-environment/
- Ashley, E. A., Olson, J. K., Raverty, S., Wilkinson, K., & Gaydos, J. K. (2020). Trace element concentrations in livers of Pacific harbor seals (Phoca vitulina richardii) from San Juan County, Washington, USA. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 56(2), 429. https://doi.org/10.7589/2019-04-087
- Baker, J. D., Harting, A. L., Johanos, T. C., London, J. M., Barbieri, M. M., & Littnan, C. L. (2020). Terrestrial habitat loss and the long-term viability of the French Frigate Shoals Hawaiian monk seal subpopulation. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.25923/76vx-ve75
- Baraff, L. S., & Loughlin, T. R. (2000). Trends and potential interactions between pinnipeds and fisheries of new England and the U.S. west coast. *Marine Fisheries Review*, 62, 1+. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A94131418/AONE?u=mlin_b_umass&sid=bookmark-AONE&xid=72b8d243
- Battisti, C., Kroha, S., Kozhuharova, E., De Michelis, S., Fanelli, G., Poeta, G., Pietrelli, L., & Cerfolli, F. (2019). Fishing lines and fish hooks as neglected marine litter: first data on chemical composition, densities, and biological entrapment from a Mediterranean beach. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 26(1), 1000–1007. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-3753-9
- Beck, C. A., Iverson, S. J., Bowen, W. D., & Blanchard, W. (2007). Sex differences in grey seal diet reflect seasonal variation in foraging behaviour and reproductive expenditure: evidence from quantitative fatty acid signature analysis. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 76(3), 490–502. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01215.x
- Berta, A., Sumich, J. L., & Kovacs, K. M. (2015). *Marine Mammals Evolutionary Biology* (P. Gonzalez, Ed.; Third). Academic Press.

- Besseling, E., Foekema, E. M., Van Franeker, J. A., Leopold, M. F., Kühn, S., Bravo Rebolledo, E. L., Heße, E., Mielke, L., IJzer, J., Kamminga, P., & Koelmans, A. A. (2015). Microplastic in a macro filter feeder: Humpback whale Megaptera novaeangliae. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 95(1), 248–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.04.007
- Bodewes, R., Bestebroer, T. M., van der Vries, E., Verhagen, J. H., Herfst, S., Koopmans, M. P., Fouchier, R. A. M., Pfankuche, V. M., Wohlsein, P., Siebert, U., Baumgärtner, W., & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. (2015). Avian Influenza A(H10N7) Virus–Associated Mass Deaths among Harbor Seals. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 21(4), 720–722. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2104.141675
- Bodewes, R., Morick, D., van de Bildt, M. W., Osinga, N., Rubio García, A., Sánchez Contreras, G. J., Smits, S. L., Reperant, L. A., Kuiken, T., & Osterhaus, A. D. (2013).
 Prevalence of phocine distemper virus specific antibodies: bracing for the next seal epizootic in north-western Europe. *Emerging Microbes & Infections*, 2(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/emi.2013.2
- Bodewes, R., Rubio García, A., Brasseur, S. M., Sanchez Conteras, G. J., van de Bildt, M. W. G., Koopmans, M. P. G., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E., & Kuiken, T. (2015).
 Seroprevalence of Antibodies against Seal Influenza A(H10N7) Virus in Harbor Seals and Gray Seals from the Netherlands. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(12), e0144899. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0144899
- Boltunov, A., Semenova, V., Samsonov, D., Boltunov, N., & Nikiforov, V. (2019). Persistent organic pollutants in the Pechora Sea walruses. *Polar Biology*, *42*(9), 1775–1785. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-019-02457-9
- Bolyen, E., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M. R., Bokulich, N. A., Abnet, C. C., Al-Ghalith, G. A., Alexander, H., Alm, E. J., Arumugam, M., Asnicar, F., Bai, Y., Bisanz, J. E., Bittinger, K., Brejnrod, A., Brislawn, C. J., Brown, C. T., Callahan, B. J., Caraballo-Rodríguez, A. M., Chase, J., ... Caporaso, J. G. (2019). Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. *Nature Biotechnology*, *37*(8), 852–857. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9
- Borja, A., White, M. P., Berdalet, E., Bock, N., Eatock, C., Kristensen, P., Leonard, A., Lloret, J., Pahl, S., Parga, M., Prieto, J. V., Wuijts, S., & Fleming, L. E. (2020). Moving Toward an Agenda on Ocean Health and Human Health in Europe. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00037
- Bosker, T., Guaita, L., & Behrens, P. (2018). Microplastic pollution on Caribbean beaches in the Lesser Antilles. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 133, 442–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.05.060
- Bowen, W. D. (2000). Reconstruction of pinniped diets: accounting for complete digestion of otoliths and cephalopod beaks. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 57(5), 898–905. https://doi.org/10.1139/f00-032
- Bowen, W., & Harrison, G. (1994). Offshore diet of grey seals Halichoerus grypus near Sable Island, Canada. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 112, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps112001
- Boye, T. K., Simon, M. J., Laidre, K. L., Rigét, F., & Stafford, K. M. (2020). Seasonal detections of bearded seal (Erignathus barbatus) vocalizations in Baffin Bay and Davis Strait in relation to sea ice concentration. *Polar Biology*, 43(10), 1493–1502. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-020-02723-1

- Bråte, I. L., Halsband, C., Allan, I., & Thomas, K. (2014). *Report made for the Norwegian Environment Agency: Microplastics in marine environments; Occurrence, distribution and effects.*
- Brodeur, R. D. (1979). *Guide to Otoliths of Some Northwest Atlantic Fishes*. National Marine Fisheries Service Northeast Fisheries Science Centeer.
- Browne, P., Laake, J. L., & DeLong, R. L. (2002). Improving pinniped diet analyses through identification of multiple skeletal structures in fecal samples. *Fishery Bulletin*, 100, 423+.

https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A90925217/AONE?u=mlin_b_umass&sid=bookmark-AONE&xid=1fff9c23

- Buchheister, A., Miller, T. J., Houde, E. D., Secor, D. H., & Latour, R. J. (2016). Spatial and temporal dynamics of Atlantic menhaden (Brevoortia tyrannus) recruitment in the Northwest Atlantic Ocean. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 73(4), 1147–1159. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsv260
- Butterworth, A. (2016). A review of the welfare impact on pinnipeds of plastic marine debris. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, *3*(149). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00149
- Calvin, K., Dasgupta, D., Krinner, G., Mukherji, A., Thorne, P. W., Trisos, C., Romero, J., Aldunce, P., Barrett, K., Blanco, G., Cheung, W. W. L., Connors, S., Denton, F., Diongue-Niang, A., Dodman, D., Garschagen, M., Geden, O., Hayward, B., Jones, C., ... Ha, M. (2023). *IPCC, 2023: Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647*
- Cameron, M. F., Frost, K. J., Ver Hoef, J. M., Breed, G. A., Whiting, A. V., Goodwin, J., & Boveng, P. L. (2018). Habitat selection and seasonal movements of young bearded seals (Erignathus barbatus) in the Bering Sea. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(2), e0192743. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192743

Campana, S. E. (2004). *Photographic Atlas of Fish Otoliths of the Northwest Atlantic Ocean*. National Research Council of Canada.

- Casper, R. M., Jarman, S. N., Deagle, B. E., Gales, N. J., & Hindell, M. A. (2007). Detecting prey from DNA in predator scats: A comparison with morphological analysis, using Arctocephalus seals fed a known diet. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 347(1–2), 144–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2007.04.002
- Chen, Q., Allgeier, A., Yin, D., & Hollert, H. (2019). Leaching of endocrine disrupting chemicals from marine microplastics and mesoplastics under common life stress conditions. *Environment International*, 130, 104938. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104938
- Cole, M., Lindeque, P., Halsband, C., & Galloway, T. S. (2011). Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: A review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 62(12), 2588–2597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.09.025
- Corniuk, R. N., Shaw, K. R., McWhirter, A., Lynch, H. W., Royer, S.-J., & Lynch, J. M. (2023). Polymer identification of floating derelict fishing gear from O'ahu, Hawai'i. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 196, 115570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2023.115570

- Covernton, G. A., Cox, K. D., Fleming, W. L., Buirs, B. M., Davies, H. L., Juanes, F., Dudas, S. E., & Dower, J. F. (2022). Large size (100-μm) microplastics are not biomagnifying in coastal marine food webs of British Columbia, Canada. *Ecological Applications*, 32(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2654
- Covernton, G. A., Pearce, C. M., Gurney-Smith, H. J., Chastain, S. G., Ross, P. S., Dower, J. F., & Dudas, S. E. (2019). Size and shape matter: A preliminary analysis of microplastic sampling technique in seawater studies with implications for ecological risk assessment. *Science of The Total Environment*, 667, 124–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.02.346
- Cowger, W., Steinmetz, Z., Gray, A., Munno, K., Lynch, J., Hapich, H., Primpke, S., De Frond, H., Rochman, C., & Herodotou, O. (2021). Microplastic Spectral Classification Needs an Open Source Community: Open Specy to the Rescue! *Analytical Chemistry*, 93(21), 7543–7548. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.1c00123
- Cullon, D. L., Jeffries, S. J., & Ross, P. S. (2005). Persitent organic pollutants in the diet of harbor seals (Phoca vitulina) inhabiting Puget Sound, Washington (USA), and the Strait of Georgia, British Columbia (Canada): a food basket approach. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 24(10), 2562. https://doi.org/10.1897/04-585R.1
- Dau, B. K., Gilardi, K. V. K., Gulland, F. M., Higgins, A., Holcomb, J. B., Leger, J. St., & Ziccardi, M. H. (2009). Fishing gear–related injury in California marine wildlife. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 45(2), 355–362. https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-45.2.355
- de Lima, R., Cebuhar, J., Negrete, J., Ferreira, A., Secchi, E., & Botta, S. (2022). Ecosystem shifts inferred from long-term stable isotope analysis of male Antarctic fur seal Arctocephalus gazella teeth. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 695, 203–216. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps14112
- De María, M., Szteren, D., García-Alonso, J., de Rezende, C. E., Araújo Gonçalves, R., Godoy, J. M., & Barboza, F. R. (2021). Historic variation of trace elements in pinnipeds with spatially segregated trophic habits reveals differences in exposure to pollution. *Science of The Total Environment*, 750, 141296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141296
- Deagle, B. E., Kirkwood, R., & Jarman, S. N. (2009). Analysis of Australian fur seal diet by pyrosequencing prey DNA in faeces. *Molecular Ecology*, *18*(9), 2022–2038. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04158.x
- den Heyer, C. E., Bowen, W. D., Dale, J., Gosselin, J., Hammill, M. O., Johnston, D. W., Lang, S. L. C., Murray, K. T., Stenson, G. B., & Wood, S. A. (2021). Contrasting trends in gray seal (*Halichoerus grypus*) pup production throughout the increasing northwest Atlantic metapopulation. *Marine Mammal Science*, 37(2), 611–630. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12773
- Desclos-Dukes, L., Butterworth, A., & Cogan, T. (2022). Using a non-invasive technique to identify suspected microplastics in grey seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) living in the western North Sea. *Veterinary Record*, *190*(11). https://doi.org/10.1002/vetr.1484
- Di Beneditto, A. P. M., & Awabdi, D. R. (2014). How marine debris ingestion differs among megafauna species in a tropical coastal area. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 88(1–2), 86–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.09.020
- Dietz, R., Ansen, C. T., Have, P., & Heide-Jørgensen, M. P. (1989). Clue to seal epizootic? *Nature*, *338*(6217), 627–627. https://doi.org/10.1038/338627a0

- Division for Sustainable Development. (2007). Percentage of Total Population Living in Coastal Areas.
- DR, C., Tyree, M., Dettinger, M., Hidalgo, H., Das, T., Maurer, E., Bromirski, P., Graham, N., & Flick, R. (2009). *Climate change scenarios and sea level rise estimates for the California 2009 climate change scenarios assessment*.
- Druckenmiller, M. L., Thoman, R. L., & Moon, T. A. (2022). Arctic Report Card 2022: Executive Summary. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.25923/yjx6-r184
- Dufault, M. N., Olson, Z. H., Mellone, D. M., Flanders, K. R., & Ono, K. A. (2021). Flatfish may be underestimated in the diet of gray seals (*Halichoerus grypus*). *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 99(3), 227–234. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjz-2020-0145
- Duignan, P. J., Nielsen, O., House, C., Kovacs, K. M., Duffy, N., Early, G., Sadove, S., Aubin, D. J. St., Rima, B. K., & Geraci, J. R. (1997). Epizootiology of morbillivirus infection in harp, hooded, and ringed seals from the Canadian Arctic and Western Atlantic. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 33(1), 7–19. https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-33.1.7
- Ellwanger, J. H., & Chies, J. A. B. (2021). Zoonotic spillover: Understanding basic aspects for better prevention. *Genetics and Molecular Biology*, *44*(1 suppl 1). https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4685-gmb-2020-0355
- Eriksson, C., & Burton, H. (2003). Origins and biological accumulation of small plastic particles in fur seals from Macquarie Island. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, *32*(6), 380–384. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-32.6.380
- FAO. (2022). The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. Towards Blue Transformation. FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0461en
- Flanders, K., Olson, Z., & Ono, K. (2020). Utilizing next-generation sequencing to identify prey DNA in western North Atlantic grey seal Halichoerus grypus diet. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 655, 227–240. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13520
- Florko, K. R. N., Tai, T. C., Cheung, W. W. L., Ferguson, S. H., Sumaila, U. R., Yurkowski, D. J., & Auger-Méthé, M. (2021). Predicting how climate change threatens the prey base of Arctic marine predators. *Ecology Letters*, 24(12), 2563–2575. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13866
- Frisk, M. G., & Miller, T. J. (2006). Age, growth, and latitudinal patterns of two Rajidae species in the northwestern Atlantic: little skate (*Leucoraja erinacea*) and winter skate (*Leucoraja ocellata*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 63(5), 1078–1091. https://doi.org/10.1139/f06-005
- Frouin, H., Fortier, M., & Fournier, M. (2010). Toxic effects of various pollutants in 11B7501 lymphoma B cell line from harbour seal (Phoca vitulina). *Toxicology*, 270(2– 3), 66–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2010.01.014
- Frouin, H., Lebeuf, M., Hammill, M., & Fournier, M. (2012). Transfer of PBDEs and chlorinated POPs from mother to pup during lactation in harp seals Phoca groenlandica. *Science of The Total Environment*, 417–418, 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.11.084
- Gibson, T. (2023). Diet comparison between *Halichoerus grypus* (grey seal) and *Phoca vitulina* (harbor seal) through DNA analysis of chyme and fecal matter within the intestine.

- Griesel, S., Kakuschke, A., Siebert, U., & Prange, A. (2008). Trace element concentrations in blood of harbor seals (Phoca vitulina) from the Wadden Sea. *Science of The Total Environment*, *392*(2–3), 313–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.10.062
- Grigorescu, Grigore, Iancu, Ghioca, & Ion. (2019). Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment: A Review on the Identification Methods for Polymeric Materials. *Recycling*, 4(3), 32. https://doi.org/10.3390/recycling4030032
- Habran, S., Pomeroy, P. P., Debier, C., & Das, K. (2013). Changes in trace elements during lactation in a marine top predator, the grey seal. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *126*, 455–466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.08.011
- Hamed, M., Soliman, H. A. M., Badrey, A. E. A., & Osman, A. G. M. (2021). Microplastics induced histopathological lesions in some tissues of tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) early juveniles. *Tissue and Cell*, 71, 101512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tice.2021.101512
- Haverkamp, H., Chang, H., Newcomb, E., Doughty, L., Walk, D., Seton, R., Jones, L. S., Todd, S., & Cammen, K. M. (2023). A retrospective socio-ecological analysis of seal strandings in the Gulf of Maine. *Marine Mammal Science*, 39(1), 232–250. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12975
- Henderson, J. R. (2001). A pre- and post-MARPOL annex V summary of Hawaiian monk seal entanglements and marine debris accumulation in the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands, 1982–1998. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 42(7), 584–589. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(00)00204-6
- Hernandez-Milian, G., Lusher, A., MacGabban, S., & Rogan, E. (2019). Microplastics in grey seal (Halichoerus grypus) intestines: Are they associated with parasite aggregations? *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 146, 349–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.06.014
- Hernandez-Milian, G., Tsangaris, C., Anestis, A., Fossi, M. C., Baini, M., Caliani, I., Panti, C., Bundone, L., & Panou, A. (2023). Monk seal faeces as a non-invasive technique to monitor the incidence of ingested microplastics and potential presence of plastic additives. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 193, 115227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2023.115227
- Hirons, A. C., Schell, D. M., & Finney, B. P. (2001). Temporal records of δ13C and δ15N in North Pacific pinnipeds: inferences regarding environmental change and diet. *Oecologia*, 129(4), 591–601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420100756
- Hoekendijk, J. P. A., Grundlehner, A., Brasseur, S., Kellenberger, B., Tuia, D., & Aarts, G. (2023). Stay close, but not too close: aerial image analysis reveals patterns of social distancing in seal colonies. *Royal Society Open Science*, 10(8). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.230269
- Hofmeyr, G. J., Bester, M. N., Kirkman, S. P., Lydersen, C., & Kovacs, K. M. (2006). Entanglement of Antarctic fur seals at Bouvetøya, Southern Ocean. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 52(9), 1077–1080. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.05.003
- Hogan, S. M. (2022). Plastic pollution on Nantucket Island: occurrence of microplastics in marine seawater, intertidal sediments, and in ecologically important organisms, bay scallops (Argopecten irradians) and gray seals (Halichoerus grypus). In *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*. https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/plasticpollution-on-nantucket-island-occurrence/docview/2726047889/se-2?accountid=28932

- Hollerova, A., Hodkovicova, N., Blahova, J., Faldyna, M., Franc, A., Pavlokova, S., Tichy, F., Postulkova, E., Mares, J., Medkova, D., Kyllar, M., & Svobodova, Z. (2023).
 Polystyrene microparticles can affect the health status of freshwater fish Threat of oral microplastics intake. *Science of The Total Environment*, 858, 159976. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.159976
- Hoseini, S. M., Namroodi, S., Sayadshirazi, A., & Zaccaroni, A. (2022). Trace elements and contaminants concentrations in tissues of Caspian seals (Pusa caspica) along the Iranian Coast. *Toxics 2023, Vol. 11, Page 39, 11*(1), 39. https://doi.org/10.3390/TOXICS11010039
- Houde, M., Wang, X., Colson, T.-L. L., Gagnon, P., Ferguson, S. H., Ikonomou, M. G., Dubetz, C., Addison, R. F., & Muir, D. C. G. (2019). Trends of persistent organic pollutants in ringed seals (Phoca hispida) from the Canadian Arctic. *Science of The Total Environment*, 665, 1135–1146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.02.138
- Hudak, C. A., & Sette, L. (2019). Opportunistic detection of anthropogenic micro debris in harbor seal (Phoca vitulina vitulina) and gray seal (Halichoerus grypus atlantica) fecal samples from haul-outs in southeastern Massachusetts, USA. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 145, 390–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.06.020
- Humpert, M. (2019, February 20). Russia's Northern Sea Route sees record cargo volume in 2018. Arctic Business Journal. https://www.arctictoday.com/russias-northern-sea-routesees-record-cargo-volume-in-2018/
- Hunt, T., Ziccardi, M., Gulland, F., Yochem, P., Hird, D., Rowles, T., & Mazet, J. (2008). Health risks for marine mammal workers. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms*, 81, 81–92. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao01942
- Hyvärinen, H., & Sipilä, T. (1984). Heavy metals and high pup mortality in the Saimaa ringed seal population in eastern Finland. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *15*(9), 335–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-326X(84)90490-9
- Jambeck, J. R., Geyer, R., Wilcox, C., Siegler, T. R., Perryman, M., Andrady, A., Narayan, R., & Law, K. L. (2015). Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean. *Science*, 347(6223), 768–771. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1260352
- Jarman, S. N., Deagle, B. E., & Gales, N. J. (2004). Group-specific polymerase chain reaction for DNA-based analysis of species diversity and identity in dietary samples. *Molecular Ecology*, 13(5), 1313–1322. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02109.x
- Jay, C. V., Taylor, R. L., Fischbach, A. S., Udevitz, M. S., & Beatty, W. S. (2017). Walrus haul-out and in water activity levels relative to sea ice availability in the Chukchi Sea. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 98(2), 386–396. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyw195
- Jepsen, E. M., & de Bruyn, P. J. N. (2019). Pinniped entanglement in oceanic plastic pollution: A global review. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 145, 295–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.05.042
- Jo, W. K., Osterhaus, A. D., & Ludlow, M. (2018). Transmission of morbilliviruses within and among marine mammal species. *Current Opinion in Virology*, *28*, 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coviro.2017.12.005
- Jüssi, M., Härkönen, T., Helle, E., & Jüssi, I. (2008). Decreasing ice coverage will reduce the breeding success of Baltic grey seal (Halichoerus grypus) females. *Ambio*, 37(2), 80–85. https://www.proquest.com/docview/207668943?accountid=28932&pq-origiste=primo

- Kakuschke, A., Valentine-Thon, E., Griesel, S., Fonfara, S., Siebert, U., & Prange, A. (2005). Immunological Impact of Metals in Harbor Seals (*Phoca vitulina*) of the North Sea. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 39(19), 7568–7575. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0505200
- Kakuschke, A., Valentine-Thon, E., Griesel, S., Fonfara, S., Siebert, U., & Prange, A. (2011).
 Are metal-induced hypersensitivities in harbor seals associated with liver function?
 Marine Pollution Bulletin, 62(8), 1891–1894.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.05.034
- Kauhala, K., Bäcklin, B.-M., Raitaniemi, J., & Harding, K. C. (2017). The effect of prey quality and ice conditions on the nutritional status of Baltic gray seals of different age groups. *Mammal Research*, 62(4), 351–362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13364-017-0329-x
- Konechnaya, O., Lüchtrath, S., Dsikowitzky, L., & Schwarzbauer, J. (2020). Optimized microplastic analysis based on size fractionation, density separation and μ-FTIR. *Water Science and Technology*, *81*(4), 834–844. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2020.173
- Krog, J. S., Hansen, M. S., Holm, E., Hjulsager, C. K., Chriél, M., Pedersen, K., Andresen, L. O., Abildstrøm, M., Jensen, T. H., & Larsen, L. E. (2015). Influenza A(H10N7) Virus in Dead Harbor Seals, Denmark. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 21(4), 684–687. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2104.141484
- Kucklick, J. R., Krahn, M. M., Becker, P. R., Porter, B. J., Schantz, M. M., York, G. S., O'Hara, T. M., & Wise, S. A. (2006). Persistent organic pollutants in Alaskan ringed seal (Phoca hispida) and walrus (Odobenus rosmarus) blubber. *J. Environ. Monit.*, 8(8), 848–854. https://doi.org/10.1039/B602379G
- Kutralam-Muniasamy, G., Pérez-Guevara, F., Elizalde-Martínez, I., & Shruti, V. C. (2020). An overview of recent advances in micro/nano beads and microfibers research: Critical assessment and promoting the less known. *Science of The Total Environment*, 740, 139991. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139991
- Lallas, P. L. (2001). The Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants. *American Journal of International Law*, 95(3), 692–708. https://doi.org/10.2307/2668517
- Lam, V. W. Y., Cheung, W. W. L., Reygondeau, G., & Sumaila, U. R. (2016). Projected change in global fisheries revenues under climate change. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 32607. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep32607
- Langan, J. A., McManus, M. C., Zemeckis, D. R., & Colli, J. S. (2020). Abundance and distribution of Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua) in a warming southern New England. *Fishery Bulletin*, 118(2), 145–156. https://doi.org/10.7755/FB.118.2.4
- Lerner, J. E., Ono, K., Hernandez, K. M., Runstadler, J. A., Puryear, W. B., & Polito, M. J. (2018). Evaluating the use of stable isotope analysis to infer the feeding ecology of a growing US gray seal (Halichoerus grypus) population. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(2), e0192241. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0192241
- Mamontov, A. A., Mamontova, E. A., & Tarasova, E. N. (2019). Persistent organic pollutants in Baikal seal (Pusa sibirica) blubber. *Russian Journal of General Chemistry*, 89(13), 2791–2797. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1070363219130097
- Marine Mammal Protection Act of 1972, U.S. Government Publishing Office (2022).
- Marshall, H. D., Hart, K. A., Yaskowiak, E. S., Stenson, G. B., Mckinnon, D., & Perry, E. A. (2010). Molecular identification of prey in the stomach contents of Harp Seals (*Pagophilus groenlandicus*) using species-specific oligonucleotides. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 10(1), 181–189. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2009.02713.x

- McCosker, C., Flanders, K., Ono, K., Dufault, M., Mellone, D., & Olson, Z. (2020). Metabarcoding Fecal DNA Reveals Extent of Halichoerus grypus (Gray Seal) Foraging on Invertebrates and Incidence of Parasite Exposure. *Northeastern Naturalist*, 27(4). https://doi.org/10.1656/045.027.0409
- McCosker, C. M., Olson, Z. H., & Ono, K. A. (2023). A comparative methodological approach to studying the diet of a recovering marine predator, the grey seal (*Halichoerus grypus*). *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, *102*(2), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjz-2023-0104
- McGoran, A. R., Cowie, P. R., Clark, P. F., McEvoy, J. P., & Morritt, D. (2018). Ingestion of plastic by fish: A comparison of Thames Estuary and Firth of Clyde populations. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 137, 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.09.054
- McHuron, E. A., Sterling, J. T., & Mangel, M. (2023). The influence of prey availability on behavioral decisions and reproductive success of a central-place forager during lactation. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 560, 111392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2022.111392
- Meaza, I., Toyoda, J. H., & Wise Sr, J. P. (2021). Microplastics in Sea Turtles, Marine Mammals and Humans: A One Environmental Health Perspective. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.575614
- Methratta, E. T., & Link, J. S. (2007). Ontogenetic variation in habitat associations for four flatfish species in the Gulf of Maine-Georges Bank region. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 70(6), 1669–1688. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2007.01428.x
- Momtazmanesh, S., & Rezaei, N. (2022). Hypersensitivity. In *Encyclopedia of Infection and Immunity* (Vol. 1, pp. 243–258). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818731-9.00032-X
- Moore, S. E. (2008). Marine mammals as ecosystem sentinels. *Journal of Mammalogy*, *89*(3), 534–540. https://doi.org/10.1644/07-MAMM-S-312R1.1
- Mos, L., Morsey, B., Jeffries, S. J., Yunker, M. B., Raverty, S., Guise, S. De, & Ross, P. S. (2006). Chemical and biological pollution contribute to the immunological profiles of free-ranging harbor seals. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 25(12), 3110– 3117. https://doi.org/10.1897/06-027R.1
- Napper, I. E., & Thompson, R. C. (2016). Release of synthetic microplastic plastic fibres from domestic washing machines: Effects of fabric type and washing conditions. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 112(1–2), 39–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.09.025
- National Research Council (US) Committee on Diet and Health. (1989). *Diet and Health: Implications for Reducing Chronic Disease Risk* (Trace Elements, Vol. 14). National Academies Press (US).
- NCEZID. (2021, July 1). *Zoonotic Diseases*. CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/basics/zoonotic-diseases.html
- NCEZID. (2023, January 17). *Who We Are*. CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/ncezid/who-we-are/index.html#:~:text=Infectious%20diseases%20are%20illnesses%20caused,from%20 one%20person%20to%20another.
- Nehasil, S. (2010). *The Impacts of Sea-Level Rise on Pinniped Haul-Out Sites along the California Coast* [UC San Diego]. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/9gq660vn

- Nel, H. A., & Froneman, P. W. (2015). A quantitative analysis of microplastic pollution along the south-eastern coastline of South Africa. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 101(1), 274–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.09.043
- Nelms, S. E., Barnett, J., Brownlow, A., Davison, N. J., Deaville, R., Galloway, T. S., Lindeque, P. K., Santillo, D., & Godley, B. J. (2019). Microplastics in marine mammals stranded around the British coast: ubiquitous but transitory? *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1075. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-37428-3
- Nelms, S. E., Galloway, T. S., Godley, B. J., Jarvis, D. S., & Lindeque, P. K. (2018). Investigating microplastic trophic transfer in marine top predators. *Environmental Pollution*, 238, 999–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.02.016
- Nelms, S. E., Parry, H. E., Bennett, K. A., Galloway, T. S., Godley, B. J., Santillo, D., & Lindeque, P. K. (2019). What goes in, must come out: Combining scat-based molecular diet analysis and quantification of ingested microplastics in a marine top predator. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 10(10), 1712–1722. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13271
- Newcomb, E., Walk, D., Haverkamp, H., Doughty, L., Todd, S., Seton, R., Jones, L., & Cammen, K. (2021). Breaking down "harassment" to characterize trends in human interaction cases in Maine's pinnipeds. *Conservation Science and Practice*, 3(11). https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.518
- NIEHS. (2023, June 2). *Endocrine Disruptors*. NIH. https://www.niehs.nih.gov/health/topics/agents/endocrine
- NOAA Education. (2020, April 1). Ocean acidification. https://www.noaa.gov/education/resource-collections/ocean-coasts/oceanacidification#:~:text=In%20the%20200%2Dplus%20years,fallen%20by%200.1%20pH %20units.
- NOAA Fisheries. (2022a, April 19). *Harbor Seal*. https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/species/harbor-seal#overview
- NOAA Fisheries. (2022b, April 20). *Harp Seal*. https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/species/harp-seal#:~:text=Harp%20seals%20live%20throughout%20the,%2C%20genetic%2C%20an d%20behavioral%20differences.
- NOAA Fisheries. (2022c, August 6). *Gray Seal*. https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/species/gray-seal
- NOAA Marine Debris Program. (n.d.). Monitoring Photo Gallery.
- Nobre, C. R., Santana, M. F. M., Maluf, A., Cortez, F. S., Cesar, A., Pereira, C. D. S., & Turra, A. (2015). Assessment of microplastic toxicity to embryonic development of the sea urchin Lytechinus variegatus (Echinodermata: Echinoidea). *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 92(1–2), 99–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.12.050
- Northeast Fisheries Science Center. (2022, August 25). Frequent Questions: 2018 Pinniped Unusual Mortality Event. NOAA Fisheries.
- Ono, K. A., Steinbeiser, C. M., Coco, A. B., Sheehan, M. J., Beck, A. J., Dufault, M. N., Gilbert, K. M., Antonez, J. J., & Olson, Z. H. (2019). Detecting spiny dogfish in grey seal diets. *Conservation Genetics Resources*, 11(4), 481–485. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12686-018-1044-x

 Ortega-Borchardt, J. Á., Ramírez-Álvarez, N., Rios Mendoza, L. M., Gallo-Reynoso, J. P., Barba-Acuña, I. D., García-Hernández, J., Égido-Villarreal, J., & Kubenik, T. (2023a). Detection of microplastic particles in scats from different colonies of California sea lions (Zalophus californianus) in the Gulf of California, Mexico: A preliminary study. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 186, 114433.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2022.114433

 Ortega-Borchardt, J. Á., Ramírez-Álvarez, N., Rios Mendoza, L. M., Gallo-Reynoso, J. P., Barba-Acuña, I. D., García-Hernández, J., Égido-Villarreal, J., & Kubenik, T. (2023b).
 Detection of microplastic particles in scats from different colonies of California sea lions (Zalophus californianus) in the Gulf of California, Mexico: A preliminary study. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 186, 114433.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2022.114433

- Paul-Pont, I., Lacroix, C., González Fernández, C., Hégaret, H., Lambert, C., Le Goïc, N., Frère, L., Cassone, A.-L., Sussarellu, R., Fabioux, C., Guyomarch, J., Albentosa, M., Huvet, A., & Soudant, P. (2016). Exposure of marine mussels Mytilus spp. to polystyrene microplastics: Toxicity and influence on fluoranthene bioaccumulation. *Environmental Pollution*, 216, 724–737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.06.039
- Perez-Venegas, D. J., Hardesty, B. D., Wilcox, C., & Galbán-Malagón, C. (2023). The hotspots of entanglement for pinnipeds of the world. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 195, 115491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2023.115491
- Perez-Venegas, D. J., Toro-Valdivieso, C., Ayala, F., Brito, B., Iturra, L., Arriagada, M., Seguel, M., Barrios, C., Sepúlveda, M., Oliva, D., Cárdenas-Alayza, S., Urbina, M. A., Jorquera, A., Castro-Nallar, E., & Galbán-Malagón, C. (2020). Monitoring the occurrence of microplastic ingestion in Otariids along the Peruvian and Chilean coasts. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 153, 110966. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.110966
- Philipp, C., Unger, B., Fischer, E. K., Schnitzler, J. G., & Siebert, U. (2020). Handle with Care—Microplastic Particles in Intestine Samples of Seals from German Waters. *Sustainability*, 12(24), 10424. https://doi.org/10.3390/su122410424
- Pitt, J. A., Trevisan, R., Massarsky, A., Kozal, J. S., Levin, E. D., & Di Giulio, R. T. (2018). Maternal transfer of nanoplastics to offspring in zebrafish (Danio rerio): A case study with nanopolystyrene. *Science of The Total Environment*, 643, 324–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.186
- Piwowarska, D., Kiedrzyńska, E., & Jaszczyszyn, K. (2024). A global perspective on the nature and fate of heavy metals polluting water ecosystems, and their impact and remediation. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2024.2317112
- Price, C. (2023, March 1). *The Polar Regions*. WorldAtlas. https://www.worldatlas.com/geography/the-polar-regions.html
- Puchades, L., Gallego-Rios, S. E., Di Marzio, A., & Martínez-López, E. (2022). Trace elements in blood of Baltic gray seal pups (Halichoerus grypus) from the Gulf of Riga and their relationship with biochemical and clinical parameters. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 182, 113973. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2022.113973

- Puryear, W. B., Keogh, M., Hill, N., Moxley, J., Josephson, E., Davis, K. R., Bandoro, C., Lidgard, D., Bogomolni, A., Levin, M., Lang, S., Hammill, M., Bowen, D., Johnston, D. W., Romano, T., Waring, G., & Runstadler, J. (2016). Prevalence of influenza A virus in live-captured North Atlantic gray seals: a possible wild reservoir. *Emerging Microbes & Infections*, 5(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/emi.2016.77
- Puryear, W., Sawatzki, K., Bogomolni, A., Hill, N., Foss, A., Stokholm, I., Olsen, M. T., Nielsen, O., Waltzek, T., Goldstein, T., Subramaniam, K., Rodrigues, T. C. S., Belaganahalli, M., Doughty, L., Becker, L., Stokes, A., Niemeyer, M., Tuttle, A., Romano, T., ... Runstadler, J. (2021). Longitudinal analysis of pinnipeds in the northwest Atlantic provides insights on endemic circulation of phocine distemper virus. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 288*(1962). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2021.1841
- Puryear, W., Sawatzki, K., Hill, N., Foss, A., Stone, J. J., Doughty, L., Walk, D., Gilbert, K., Murray, M., Cox, E., Patel, P., Mertz, Z., Ellis, S., Taylor, J., Fauquier, D., Smith, A., DiGiovanni, R. A., van de Guchte, A., Gonzalez-Reiche, A. S., ... Runstadler, J. (2023). Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza A(H5N1) Virus Outbreak in New England Seals, United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 29(4), 786–791. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2904.221538
- Raum-Suryan, K. L., Jemison, L. A., & Pitcher, K. W. (2009). Entanglement of Steller sea lions (Eumetopias jubatus) in marine debris: Identifying causes and finding solutions. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 58(10), 1487–1495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2009.06.004
- Robinson, H., Thayer, J., Sydeman, W. J., & Weise, M. (2018). Changes in California sea lion diet during a period of substantial climate variability. *Marine Biology*, 165(10), 169. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-018-3424-x
- Robinson, K. J., Hall, A. J., Scholl, G., Debier, C., Thomé, J., Eppe, G., Adam, C., & Bennett, K. A. (2019). Investigating decadal changes in persistent organic pollutants in Scottish grey seal pups. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 29(S1), 86–100. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3137
- Roca, I. T., Kaleschke, L., & Van Opzeeland, I. (2023). Sea-ice anomalies affect the acoustic presence of Antarctic pinnipeds in breeding areas. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 21(5), 227–233. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2622
- Rochman, C. M., Hoh, E., Kurobe, T., & Teh, S. J. (2013). Ingested plastic transfers hazardous chemicals to fish and induces hepatic stress. *Scientific Reports*, 3(1), 3263. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep03263
- Ross, P. S., Chastain, S., Vassilenko, E., Etemadifar, A., Zimmermann, S., Quesnel, S.-A., Eert, J., Solomon, E., Patankar, S., Posacka, A. M., & Williams, B. (2021). Pervasive distribution of polyester fibres in the Arctic Ocean is driven by Atlantic inputs. *Nature Communications*, 12(1), 106. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20347-1
- Rotjan, R. D., Sharp, K. H., Gauthier, A. E., Yelton, R., Lopez, E. M. B., Carilli, J., Kagan, J. C., & Urban-Rich, J. (2019). Patterns, dynamics and consequences of microplastic ingestion by the temperate coral, *Astrangia poculata. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286(1905), 20190726. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.0726

- Rummel, C. D., Löder, M. G. J., Fricke, N. F., Lang, T., Griebeler, E.-M., Janke, M., & Gerdts, G. (2016). Plastic ingestion by pelagic and demersal fish from the North Sea and Baltic Sea. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 102(1), 134–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.11.043
- Sanderson, C. E., & Alexander, K. A. (2020). Unchartered waters: Climate change likely to intensify infectious disease outbreaks causing mass mortality events in marine mammals. *Glob Change Biol*, 26, 4284–4301. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15163
- Seal Abatement Coalition (SAC). (2012, November 27). Public Officials: Grant an exception to the MMPA and allow us to address the gray seal population explosion. Change.Org. https://www.change.org/p/public-officials-grant-an-exception-to-the-mmpa-and-allowus-to-address-the-gray-seal-populationexplosion?fbclid=IwZXh0bgNhZW0CMTAAAR1mE5I70bIZyio6QpULnnGXXUu 2
- mPjk7xehWF815uSXZD7DntIfh28y_I_aem_DnWGYVncTA02WC0H9DE0eg Shalders, T. C., Champion, C., Coleman, M. A., & Benkendorff, K. (2022). The nutritional
- and sensory quality of seafood in a changing climate. *Marine Environmental Research*, 176, 105590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2022.105590
- Simeone, C. A., Gulland, F. M. D., Norris, T., & Rowles, T. K. (2015). A Systematic Review of Changes in Marine Mammal Health in North America, 1972-2012: The Need for a Novel Integrated Approach. *PLOS ONE*, 10(11), e0142105. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0142105
- Simokon, M. V., & Trukhin, A. M. (2021). Analysis of essential and non-essential trace elements in the organs of a mother–fetus pair of spotted seals (Phoca largha) from the Sea of Japan. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(43), 60622–60634. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-14971-7
- Sormo, E., Skaare, J., Lydersen, C., Kovacs, K., Hammill, M., & Jenssen, B. (2003). Partitioning of persistent organic pollutants in grey seal (Halichoerus grypus) motherpup pairs. *The Science of The Total Environment*, 302(1–3), 145–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(02)00300-5
- Soulen, B. K., Divine, L. M., Venables, B. J., & Roberts, A. P. (2022). Persistent organic pollutant exposure and associations with gene expression in northern fur seals (Callorhinus ursinus) from St. Paul Island, Alaska. *Marine Environmental Research*, 182, 105789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2022.105789
- Stenson, G. B., & Hammill, M. O. (2014). Can ice breeding seals adapt to habitat loss in a time of climate change? *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 71(7), 1977–1986. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsu074
- Stokesbury, K. D. E., Calabrese, N. M., & Lowery, T. M. (2019). Windowpane Seasonal Distribution and Survey Availability on the Southern Portion of Georges Bank, USA. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries*, 11(5), 353–361. https://doi.org/10.1002/mcf2.10088
- Suca, J. J., Wiley, D. N., Silva, T. L., Robuck, A. R., Richardson, D. E., Glancy, S. G., Clancey, E., Giandonato, T., Solow, A. R., Thompson, M. A., Hong, P., Baumann, H., Kaufman, L., & Llopiz, J. K. (2021). Sensitivity of sand lance to shifting prey and hydrography indicates forthcoming change to the northeast US shelf forage fish complex. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 78(3), 1023–1037. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsaa251

- Sulak, K., Macwhirter, P., Luke, K., Norem, A., Miller, J., Cooper, J., & Harris, L. (2009). Identification guide to skates (Family Rajidae) of the Canadian Atlantic and adjacent regions. *Canadian Manuscript Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 1–34.
- SWFSC. (2016, March 1). *Food Limitation Linked to Record California Sea Lion Strandings*. NOAA Fisheries. Food Limitation Linked to Record California Sea Lion Strandings
- Tanabe, S. (2002). Contamination and toxic effects of persistent endocrine disrupters in marine mammals and birds. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 45(1–12), 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(02)00175-3
- Taylor, S., Terkildsen, M., Stevenson, G., de Araujo, J., Yu, C., Yates, A., McIntosh, R. R., & Gray, R. (2021). Per and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) at high concentrations in neonatal Australian pinnipeds. *Science of The Total Environment*, 786, 147446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147446
- Teuten, E. L., Saquing, J. M., Knappe, D. R. U., Barlaz, M. A., Jonsson, S., Björn, A., Rowland, S. J., Thompson, R. C., Galloway, T. S., Yamashita, R., Ochi, D., Watanuki, Y., Moore, C., Viet, P. H., Tana, T. S., Prudente, M., Boonyatumanond, R., Zakaria, M. P., Akkhavong, K., ... Takada, H. (2009). Transport and release of chemicals from plastics to the environment and to wildlife. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *364*(1526), 2027–2045. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0284
- Theuerkauf, E. J., Rodriguez, A. B., Fegley, S. R., & Luettich, R. A. (2014). Sea level anomalies exacerbate beach erosion. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *41*(14), 5139–5147. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014GL060544
- Thomas, A. C., Deagle, B. E., Eveson, J. P., Harsch, C. H., & Trites, A. W. (2016). Quantitative DNA metabarcoding: improved estimates of species proportional biomass using correction factors derived from control material. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 16(3), 714–726. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12490
- Thompson, R. C., Moore, C. J., vom Saal, F. S., & Swan, S. H. (2009). Plastics, the environment and human health: current consensus and future trends. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1526), 2153–2166. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0053
- Toro-Valdivieso, C., Jugdaohsingh, R., Powell, J. J., Hoffman, J. I., Forcada, J., Moore, C., & Blacklaws, B. (2023). Heavy metal contamination in pristine environments: lessons from the Juan Fernandez fur seal (*Arctocephalus philippii philippii). Royal Society Open Science*, 10(3). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.221237
- Trukhanova, I. S., Andrievskaya, E. M., Alekseev, V. A., & Sokolovskaya, M. V. (2022). Trace elements in Ladoga ringed seal (Pusa hispida ladogensis) hair. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 181, 113896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2022.113896
- Trumble, S. J., Robinson, E. M., Noren, S. R., Usenko, S., Davis, J., & Kanatous, S. B. (2012). Assessment of legacy and emerging persistent organic pollutants in Weddell seal tissue (Leptonychotes weddellii) near McMurdo Sound, Antarctica. *Science of The Total Environment*, 439, 275–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.09.018
- Tsygankov, V. Yu., Boyarova, M. D., & Lukyanova, O. N. (2015). Bioaccumulation of persistent organochlorine pesticides (OCPs) by gray whale and Pacific walrus from the western part of the Bering Sea. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 99(1–2), 235–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.07.020

- Tucker, S., Bowen, W., & Iverson, S. (2007). Dimensions of diet segregation in grey seals Halichoerus grypus revealed through stable isotopes of carbon (δ13C) and nitrogen (δ15N). *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 339, 271–282. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps339271
- Tucker, S., Bowen, W., & Iverson, S. (2008). Convergence of diet estimates derived from fatty acids and stable isotopes within individual grey seals. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 354, 267–276. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07263
- United States. National Marine Fisheries Service. (2017a). Resource Survey Report Bottom Trawl Survey 16 October – 18 November 2017 NOAA Ship Pisces (FSV 226).
- United States. National Marine Fisheries Service. (2017b). *Resource Survey Report Bottom Trawl Survey Cape Hatteras – Gulf of Maine 6 March – 13 May 2017 NOAA Ship Henry B. Bigelow (FSV 225).*
- United States. National Marine Fisheries Service. (2018a). *Resource Survey Report Bottom Trawl Survey Cape Hatteras – Gulf of Maine 4 September – 13 November 2018 NOAA Ship Henry B. Bigelow (FSV 225).*
- United States. National Marine Fisheries Service. (2018b). *Resource Survey Report Bottom Trawl Survey Cape Hatteras – Gulf of Maine 14 March – 13 May 2018 NOAA Ship Henry B. Bigelow (FSV 225).*
- van den Brand, J. M. A., Wohlsein, P., Herfst, S., Bodewes, R., Pfankuche, V. M., van de Bildt, M. W. G., Seehusen, F., Puff, C., Richard, M., Siebert, U., Lehnert, K., Bestebroer, T., Lexmond, P., Fouchier, R. A. M., Prenger-Berninghoff, E., Herbst, W., Koopmans, M., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E., Kuiken, T., & Baumgärtner, W. (2016). Influenza A (H10N7) virus causes respiratory tract disease in harbor seals and ferrets. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(7), e0159625. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159625
- VanWormer, E., Mazet, J. A. K., Hall, A., Gill, V. A., Boveng, P. L., London, J. M., Gelatt, T., Fadely, B. S., Lander, M. E., Sterling, J., Burkanov, V. N., Ream, R. R., Brock, P. M., Rea, L. D., Smith, B. R., Jeffers, A., Henstock, M., Rehberg, M. J., Burek-Huntington, K. A., ... Goldstein, T. (2019). Viral emergence in marine mammals in the North Pacific may be linked to Arctic sea ice reduction. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 15569. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-51699-4
- Vergara, E. G., Hernández, V., Munkittrick, K. R., Barra, R., Galban-Malagon, C., & Chiang, G. (2019). Presence of organochlorine pollutants in fat and scats of pinnipeds from the Antarctic Peninsula and South Shetland Islands, and their relationship to trophic position. *Science of The Total Environment*, 685, 1276–1283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.122
- Vitale, D., Spinelli, A., & Picó, Y. (2023). Microplastics Detected in Sediments and Rocks Substrate of Marine Areas with Ghost Nets. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, *11*(4), 750. https://doi.org/10.3390/jmse11040750
- Waits, L. P., & Paetkau, D. (2005). Noninvasive genetic sampling tools for wildlife biologists: a review of applications and recommendations for accurate data collection. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 69(4), 1419–1433. https://doi.org/10.2193/0022-541X(2005)69[1419:NGSTFW]2.0.CO;2
- Walker, C. H., Sibly, R. M., Hopkin, S. P., & Peakall, D. B. (2012). Principles of Ecotoxicology (Fourth). Taylor & Francis Group.

- Weise, M., & Harvey, J. (2008). Temporal variability in ocean climate and California sea lion diet and biomass consumption: implications for fisheries management. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 373, 157–172. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07737
- Weißbach, G., Gerke, G., Stolte, A., & Schneider, F. (2022). Material studies for the recycling of abandoned, lost or otherwise discarded fishing gear (ALDFG). Waste Management & Research: The Journal for a Sustainable Circular Economy, 40(7), 1039–1046. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X211052850
- Wheeler, B. W., White, M. P., Fleming, L. E., Taylor, T., Harvey, A., & Depledge, M. H. (2014). *1 Influences of the Oceans on Human Health and Well-Being*. https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:195854328
- Wilcox, BruceA., & Aguirre, A. A. (2004). One Ocean, One Health. *EcoHealth*, 1(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-004-0122-6
- Wilson, S. C., Crawford, I., Trukhanova, I., Dmitrieva, L., & Goodman, S. J. (2020). Estimating risk to ice-breeding pinnipeds from shipping in Arctic and sub-Arctic seas. *Marine Policy*, 111, 103694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2019.103694
- Wilson, S. C., Trukhanova, I., Dmitrieva, L., Dolgova, E., Crawford, I., Baimukanov, M., Baimukanov, T., Ismagambetov, B., Pazylbekov, M., Jüssi, M., & Goodman, S. J. (2017). Assessment of impacts and potential mitigation for icebreaking vessels transiting pupping areas of an ice-breeding seal. *Biological Conservation*, 214, 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.05.028
- Womble, J. N., Williams, P. J., McNabb, R. W., Prakash, A., Gens, R., Sedinger, B. S., & Acevedo, C. R. (2021). Harbor seals as sentinels of ice dynamics in tidewater glacier fjords. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.634541
- Wood, S. A., Murray, K. T., Josephson, E., & Gilbert, J. (2020). Rates of increase in gray seal (Halichoerus grypus atlantica) pupping at recolonized sites in the United States, 1988–2019. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 101(1), 121–128. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyz184
- World Health Organization. (2024). Disease Outbreak News; Avian Influenza A (H5N1) the United States of America. http://www.who.int/emergencies/disease-outbreak-news/iten/2024-DON512
- Wright, S. L., Thompson, R. C., & Galloway, T. S. (2013). The physical impacts of microplastics on marine organisms: A review. *Environmental Pollution*, 178, 483–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.02.031
- Wu, L., Osugi, T., Inagawa, T., Okitsu, J., Sakamoto, S., & Minamoto, T. (2024). Monitoring of multiple fish species by quantitative environmental DNA metabarcoding surveys over two summer seasons. *Molecular Ecology Resources*, 24(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13875
- Yu, X., Ladewig, S., Bao, S., Toline, C. A., Whitmire, S., & Chow, A. T. (2018). Occurrence and distribution of microplastics at selected coastal sites along the southeastern United States. *Science of The Total Environment*, 613–614, 298–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.100
- Zohari, S., Neimanis, A., Härkönen, T., Moraeus, C., & Valarcher, J. F. (2014). Avian influenza A(H10N7) virus involvement in mass mortality of harbour seals (Phoca vitulina) in Sweden, March through October 2014. *Eurosurveillance*, 19(46). https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES2014.19.46.20967